
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 21st July, 2017

10.00 am

Swale 1, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 21st July, 2017, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Swale 1, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Ms A Brett, 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, 
Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, 
Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, Mr S J G Koowaree, 
Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, 
Mr P Segurola and Mr J Wright

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

1 Membership 
To note that Alison Brett is Bethan Haskins temporary replacement

2 Apologies and substitutes 

3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 1 June 2017 (Pages 5 - 16)

4 Chairman's Announcements 

5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

6 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards (Pages 17 - 18)

7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 19 - 20)



8 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
2015 - 2018 (Pages 21 - 42)

9 Looked After Children in the Criminal Justice System; a summary of the Taylor, 
Laming and Lammy reviews (Pages 43 - 48)

10 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2016/2017 (Pages 49 - 72)

11 Annual Report 2016-2017, Adoption Service (Pages 73 - 118)

12 The Kent Fostering Business Plan (Pages 119 - 142)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

John Lynch,
Head of Democratic Services
03000 410466

Thursday, 13 July 2017

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 1 June 2017.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, 
Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, 
Ms S Hamilton, Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, Mr S J G Koowaree (Substitute for Mrs 
T Dean, MBE), Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Mr P Segurola and 
Ms M Smith (Substitute for Mr T Doran)

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough

IN ATTENDANCE: Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer), Ms G O'Grady 
(Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's Services) and Miss E West 
(Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

2. Motion to exclude the press and public for exempt business 

The Panel resolved that, under section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEMS (Open Access to Minutes)

3. The views of Young People in Care - update on post-adoption support 
services 
(Item 1)

1. A party of five young people attended the meeting with three members of staff – 
Rebecca and Clare from the post adoption team and Yashi from KCC/Coram - to tell 
the Panel about their experience of being adopted and the services available to 
support children and families following adoption. 

2. The young people introduced themselves and gave an introduction about the type 
of work undertaken by Coram’s ‘Adoptables’ team, including the Ambassador 
Programme for young people aged 13 to 25, drama projects in national theatres and 
the Participation Programme that had been set up in September 2015. They 
organised 2 residential weekends a year, media training, public speaking and other 
activities to raise confidence.

3. The young people spoke about the benefits that they had each gained from being 
part of the Adoptables group, how they wished to see the group develop in the future 
and how they would promote the group to new members. The young people spoke 
about their achievements as members of the group, including learning presentation 
skills and the boost in confidence and self-esteem that being part of a group had 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



brought. One of the young people explained why adoption was important to her 
personally and the impact that social media has had on the group. The group 
supplied information to schools using the education schools toolkit to help them to 
understand how to approach the issue of adoption.

4. A presentation on adoption was introduced to which all of the young people 
contributed, it summarised what adoption is, the impacts that adoption can have on a 
child and a parent’s life and issues to be aware of.

5. One of the young people explained that a short film was in the process of being 
created in which he would have the opportunity to share his adoption story with 
members of the public and other adopted children. He said that he would like to be 
able to feel that he had helped others and answered questions based on his 
experiences.

6. Clare told the Panel that the Coram’s ‘Adoptables’ groups worked with the Young 
Lives Foundation to arrange events and activities for children aged 12+ in Kent. The 
young people said the workshops were a good opportunity to learn, build confidence, 
make new friends and have fun.

7. Rebecca added that feedback from adoptive parents had emphasised the 
increased self-esteem and confidence their adopted children had gained from being 
part of the group, as well as help to overcome their feeling of being ‘different’ from 
friends and classmates. Rebecca added that the group’s drama productions had 
been a great success and had been very well received, and the young people 
involved said they had gained a sense of belonging by being in a group. Rebecca 
said the growing group had accomplished a lot since last visiting the Panel in 
November 2016 and had come a long way since being formed. The group hoped in 
future to create a ‘Young People’s’ page on the adoption website, continue to liaise 
with the Young Lives Foundation and make short experience films to help others. 
Clare added that the group were hoping to form other support groups for younger 
children in the future with a similar focus already described for the other groups. She 
hoped to come to the panel again in the future to tell them about these new groups.

8. Clare, Rebecca and Yashi thanked the Panel for allowing them to attend with the 
party of young people to tell the Panel about their work.

9. The visitors then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:-

a) One Panel Member thanked the young people for sharing their experiences 
so confidently and then shared a personal adoption experience with the Panel. 
He asked the young people how they thought adoption experiences differed 
based on age. A young person responded explaining that he was adopted as a 
baby but believed certain issues such as attachment to be very similar.

b) A Panel Member questioned whether there was a difference between private 
agency adoption and KCC. Yashi explained that there were no private adoption 
agencies in Kent; adoption was either by KCC or the voluntary sector. There 
were also services for those wishing to adopt from abroad and these were very 
highly regulated with many checks.

Page 6



c) Mr Segurola asked the young people about adopted children being able to 
have contact with their siblings and if the County Council could do any more to 
help this. Rebecca said more could be done in terms of making arrangements 
for siblings to meet, every circumstance was different but most adopted young 
people would meet with their siblings at social events or meetings arranged by 
the adoptive parents. One of the young people told the Panel about a Christmas 
party event that was very important to her as she was able to meet with her 
adopted brother whom she was only able to see once a year.

d) A Panel Member praised the young people for their presentation and asked 
how the County Council could make a difference to the group’s work in raising 
school’s understanding of adoption issues. Clare said the post adoption team 
were very aware of this issue and was involved in a pilot scheme with schools 
and head teachers to address attachment issues and support adoptive parents 
in dealing with schools. Coram’s education schools toolkit had been rolled out to 
schools and was used in planning PHSE lessons. Rebecca followed on from 
Clare’s comments by saying that the workshop was a powerful and very 
different experience which was guided by the young people and its key aim was 
to make a change to their lives. The workshop had addressed adoption-related 
bullying, which needed stronger attention, and schools’ awareness of adopted 
children’s needs. 

e) Yashi explained that attachment training was something that was very valued 
by schools and adopters and those adopters felt well supported by schools. The 
workshops, which had been run in conjunction with Virtual School Kent, focused 
on developing the education of the young people and allowing them to make 
new friends in a comfortable environment. There was much work currently 
starting including a pilot scheme to develop ‘educational champions’, in which 9 
adopters would be trained as champions to work closely with schools, and the 
establishment of a mentoring group by adopters.

f) The Chairman made reference to a personal experience as a fosterer and 
said it was important to find the balance between awareness and information 
whilst making protecting the young person’s privacy. 

10. The Chairman thanked the young people for attending once again to update the 
Panel on their experiences and the work they were doing to raise awareness of the 
issues faced by adopted children and young people.

4. Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) film - 'Chairing your own review' 
(Item 10)

The Chairman explained that, because the film about review meetings featured 
young people who did not wish to have their identities revealed, this item was moved 
up the agenda to be considered whilst the meeting was still closed to the public.

1. A short film was shown on Review Meetings for children in care, the value of them, 
how they were organised and the impact that the meetings can have.

a) Fostered children attended regular review meetings. A foster carer on the Panel 
confirmed that they found the meetings helpful.

Page 7



b) Asked how the review meetings were introduced to the young people, Ms O’Grady 
explained that the video was not public but was available to Social Workers and that 
the review meetings should be held in an environment in which the young person is 
comfortable and familiar with at a time that suits them.

c) The fact that the video was available to Social Workers was welcomed. Ms 
O’Grady confirmed that the video should be used as a tool to educate young people 
but the young people in care in the video did not want their identities to be revealed 
and their wishes must be respected.

d) Asked who had the right to attend the review meetings, Mr Segurola confirmed 
that it depends on the legal status of the child and that each case is taken on its 
merits. Ms O’Grady added that all arrangements were on a case-by-case basis to 
meet the needs of the young people.

e) Asked if permanent Fostering arrangements have to have the review meetings. Mr 
Segurola confirmed that this is a statutory obligation and whilst the review meetings 
might not be as frequent, they still hold the meetings to ensure that the young people 
were happy with the arrangement and their needs were being met. A foster carer on 
the panel said that the young people like to be heard and have a say in what is 
happening in their lives, it gives them a boost in confidence.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

At this point, the meeting was opened up to the press and public.

5. Terms of Reference and Membership 
(Item 2)

The Chairman noted that the Terms of Reference had been updated to show the new 
Cabinet Portfolio titles.

6. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item 3)

Apologies for absence had been received from Carolyn Moody, Trudy Dean, Tony 
Doran and Hazel Carpenter.

George Koowaree was present as a substitute for Trudy Dean and Marian Smith was 
present as a substitute for Tony Doran.

7. Election of Vice-Chairman 
(Item 4)

The Chairman proposed and Mr M J Northey seconded that Mrs T Dean, MBE, be 
elected Vice-Chairman of the Panel.

Agreed without a vote

8. Minutes of the meetings of the Panel held on 20 March and 25 May 2017 
(Item 5)

Page 8



RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel’s meeting held on 20 March 2017 and 25 
May 2017 are correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.

9. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 6)

1. The Chairman welcomed all of the new Panel Members and thanked all of the 
former Panel Members for their support and contribution around the issues that the 
Panel had tackled in recent years.

2. The Chairman provided a brief update on Ofsted and advised that the Council was 
awaiting the publication of the report. Mr Segurola followed on from the Chairman’s 
comments and confirmed that the publication had been delayed to 13 June and the 
report will be sent to all of the Members.

10. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 7)

1. Mr Graves and Ms O’Grady gave a verbal update on the recent participation 
events and the work of the OCYPC, the Super Council and Young Adult Council 
(YAC).  The text of the update is appended to these minutes.

2. A Panel Member commented on a recent event that he attended at an activity 
centre where he had the opportunity to meet the apprentices and have 1-to-1 
discussions. He said it was a very pleasant experience and their achievements 
should be celebrated. The Chairman also commended the recent achievements 
within OCYPC.

11. Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards 
(Item 8)

1. Ms O’Grady provided an update on the Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards, the 
current challenges and the progress that had been made. The railcards for young 
people, the Skills demo day to give young people the opportunity to learn life skills 
had been approved to go ahead, but the Cabinet Committee was not able to act as a 
guarantor for young people’s rent payments. Ms O’Grady said that she had been 
working with the 18+ team and meeting with Apprentices and young people, in 
addition to these challenges.

2. Confirmed that the foster carers were currently working on policy and finding ways 
to help young people with basic life skills to create a clear pathway for young people 
when they leave home and become self-dependant.

3. Ms Khosla thanked Ms O’Grady for the update and the team for their use of 
expertise and experience to transition smoothly across services, support issues 
raised and continue to promote supporting young people into their futures.

4. Panel Members made the following comments:

a) District Councils and Housing Associations could have more involvement in 
Corporate Parenting.

Page 9



b) The Cabinet Committee operated a number of initiatives and could do more to 
meet the needs itself and link together to promote better outcomes.

c) A foster carer shared an experience with the Panel regarding the housing 
arrangements for children in care and the lack of budget.

d) A Panel Member questioned whether help was available for young people with 
credit/debit cards to allow them to manage their finances appropriately. Ms Khosla 
confirmed that the workbooks cover managing finances including information on 
debts and current accounts.

e) Mr Segurola confirmed that the number of young people leaving care had 
increased with Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children and will continue to 
increase over the next 3 months.

2. RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

12. Advocacy and Independent Visitors Services, provided by the Young 
Lives Foundation - report on activity 2016/17 
(Item 9)

1. Mr Gray provided an update on the Advocacy and Independent Visitors Services, 
provided by the Young Lives Foundation and announced the YLF’s 10th anniversary 
and the strong and effective relationship that the Foundation had with the County 
Council and the VSK, Adoption Team. He advised that the Council’s Advocacy 
service was statutory, to ensure that children and young people in care were able to 
have a voice, have control over their own future and have access to effective 
representation and rights. Mr Gray confirmed that the future was uncertain but 
confirmed that roughly 200 young people were being taken on each year and 
demand had been increasing since 2015 beyond expectations. The workload was 
now more consistent and manageable partly due to the reduction in the number of 
UASC in Kent. Outcomes: consistent adult in a child’s life for at least 2 years. 
Challenges: seek to recruit volunteers and when an arrangement comes to an end 
(withdrawing support/extend past 18 years old). Cu recruitment and when 
arrangement comes to an end (seek to extend past 18 years old to ensure support is 
still available). Currently in a good position, sustain a high standard of work. The 
appendices summarised the issues which included Education and access, 
placements and Finance and access to bursaries. Appendix 2 is defined in 2 Acts; 
purpose to support young people relationships, 60 arrangements per year.

a) A foster carer on the Panel said she was very impressed with the Advocate 
Services provided and wanted to know whether there was anything that could be 
done to extend the ‘ending mark’ for arrangements for young offenders. Mr Gray 
confirmed that the service was available for young people up to age 24 if they were in 
education, although Independent Visitors services ended at 18. Mr Segurola also 
commented and confirmed that the service will continue in an informal way beyond 
18 if there was a strong relationship, but that the service could only support young 
people in a way set out in contract.

b) Asked if the service could be built up more to support young offenders in secure 
accommodation, Mr Gray confirmed that the service could expand and work on this 
area to make the transition back into the community much smoother.

Page 10



c) In response to a question about difficulties in providing travel warrants, Mr 
Segurola advised that many of the young people affected by these difficulties were 
UASC who needed to travel to London to access ESOL and other languages. 
Identifying local courses would reduce their need to do this.

3. RESOLVED – That the report be considered and noted.

13. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 11)

Maureen Robinson (MI Service Manager) was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Robinson introduced the Performance Indicators for Children in Care and 
provided a short update on the progress and the key areas to be improved.

a) Responding to a question regarding the 20 day deadline to complete Health 
Assessments, Mr Segurola confirmed that although a few of these did miss the 
deadline, they were done as soon as possible.

b) Asked about benchmarking against other authorities, Mr Segurola confirmed that 
most local authorities did not measure this. Ms Robinson added that this is not part of 
a regular benchmark.

c) RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

14. Statement of Purpose - Fostering Service 
(Item 12)

Caroline Smith (Head of Fostering) was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Smith introduced the Fostering Service Statement of Purpose, confirming that it 
sets out the Recruitment process, the Placement process and the Referral process. 
The ‘Fostering Fortnight’ was held for the first two weeks of May and still need to 
recruit 110 families for Kent, 90 families have been recruited so far with a target of 
200. Work is being done to promote the service in preparation for Ofsted, next time 
the fostering business plan will be brought forward.

a) Asked about the locations in which the team had hoped to recruit, Ms Smith 
confirmed that the target was the North and West of the County. The London 
Boroughs were the main competitors, and the plan was to arrange more events in the 
areas that were struggling.

b) Asked if there was anything that the Members could do to support the Recruitment 
process, Ms Smith advised that spreading the word and advertising would make a 
difference.

2. RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Thursday 1st June 2017

Corporate Parenting Panel Update – 

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

Easter School Holidays

- 5th April – Rare Breeds Centre 25 young people attended 
- 7th April – The Hop Farm 35 young people attended  
- 10th April – Wingham Wildlife Park 20 young people attended
- 11th April – YAC Gliding Day 7 young people attended
- 13th April – Kent Museum of Life 25 young people attended

OCYPC 

We had 12 OCYPC members attend and two foster carers came to talk about what it’s like to be a carer from their point of 
view. The young people and the foster carers talked about:

- Overnight stays
- Reviews (home/school, chairing, what can make it better, timing)
- MoMo app (Gemma quickly discussed about the app, and that is coming out soon)
- IRO Film (Jo briefly talked about what the film includes)
- Pocket money/Savings account
- Differences between birth and foster children
- Holidays and respite

We then discussed with the young people what they think about OCYPC:

Why is the OCYPC important to you?
- ‘The OCYPC is important because people in care tell you what they feel like and you can try and help them.’
- ‘So we can socialise with other people.’
- ‘It’s important to me because it gives me a chance to change things that affect me and other children in care and I 

get to meet others who are in care.’
-  ‘So I can talk about my problems that I have in my care placement.’

Why do you like coming to OCYPC?
- ‘My carer says I have good views.’
- ‘To get some air and not be sitting indoors all day’.
- ‘To tell children or carers around the table at the meetings about our views’.

Page 13



Why is it important that Kent has a Children in Care Council?
- ‘To stop Children in care being treated differently’.
-  ‘To get things changed for Children in care and for them to get their voice heard’.
- ‘So that Children in care get to have a say in decisions made about them.’
- ‘So we can talk about our feelings’

What would you tell other Children in care about OCYPC?
- ‘To tell them what we say to people in care around the table and what for activities we do’.
- ‘There are snacks’.

We then decorated eggs and had an Easter egg rolling competition, which got a bit messy!! All the young people went home 
with an Easter egg, some even went home with two if their egg rolling skills were up to scratch!

Super Council

We had 16 Super Council members attend and they discussed what the Super Council means to them:

Why do you like coming to the Super Council?
- ‘Because it is fun’.
- ‘The people here’.
- I get to meet other people and share my opinion’.
- ‘Learning’.

Why is the Super Council important to you?
- ‘Talk about feelings’.
- ‘That you get your voice heard’.
- ‘You make friends’.
- ‘The memories that you can hold on to’.

What would you tell other Children in care about Super Council?
- ‘You do lots of activities and get food’.
- ‘You make lots of friends’.
- ‘We’re all the same, no-one is different - we are all in care!’
- ‘We do lots of activities and it is very, very fun and we make lots of new friends!’
- ‘Because you get food and you make friends’.
-

We then had an Easter craft activity session making masks, Easter tree decorations and bookmarks!

Page 14



Young Adult Council

At April’s meeting, 5 young people attended to take part a focus group looking at the issues around why children and young 
people go missing and to also have a look at the proposed new CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) Risk Assessment Toolkit and 
offer their comments. The group were amazing and gave excellent feedback and were very insightful. As a result, changes 
are now being made to the CSE Toolkit, allowing a young person to comment on it when appropriate, and changes to the 
return interview process allowing young people more time to talk about why they ran away. Changes were also made to the 
training that is given to staff that support young people to make it more young person focussed.

At May’s meeting 9 young people attended and the group had a bite-size session on interview skills and then looked at the 
charities that they would consider fundraising for over the coming year and also the types of challenges or activities they 
would do to raise money. These will be looked in to and a decision will be made at June’s meeting.

There are no current Challenge Cards outstanding.

Whitsun Half Term Holiday Activities 

- Team building activity day at Kingswood Outdoor Activity Centre – to build relationships between members of the 
Super Council and OCYPC by way of a first steps approach to encourage some older Super Council members to move 
up to the OCYPC.

- Nelson Park Riding Centre – horse riding
- Team Tutsham – horse riding
- YAC June meeting

Save the Date!!

Monday 31st July 2017 will see our annual Countywide Children in Care Council event at Oakwood House, Maidstone – 
invitations to be distributed to Corporate Parenting Panel at today’s meeting. Last year was a lot of fun and the young 
people, as always, are delighted to see their Corporate Parents and spend the day with them.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: CORPORATE PARENTING CHALLENGE CARDS

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:  This report provides Members with an overview of progress made, and 
current challenges.

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the Challenge Card progress to date.

1. Introduction

1.1 Young people told us that they would like a formal way to have the opportunity 
of having their voices heard by their Corporate Parents and by the decision 
makers in the Council.  The young people wanted a way to be able to 
‘challenge’ or make suggestions about how improvements could be made to the 
care system.  The idea of the Challenge Card evolved and these cards allow 
Children in Care (CiC) and Care Leavers to challenge their Corporate Parents 
around issues facing them in care. 

2. Process

 Any young person in care or Care Leaver can raise a challenge.  The 
challenge is then taken to one of the Children in Care Councils and if it is 
agreed upon by three or more members it is agreed.

 Agreed Challenges are then taken forward to the CiC Meetings where the 
Lead Officer will review and a decision will be taken in the meeting as to 
whether the Challenge is actionable. 

 The delegated officer will then action the challenge and will update the 
Virtual School Kent (VSK) Participation and Engagement (P&E) Team with 
the outcome of the Challenge.

 At the next CiC Council meeting the Chairperson will update the CiC 
Council as to the outcome of the Challenge. 

 VSK Care Leaver Apprentices provide regular updates to CPP as to the 
outcome of the Challenge Cards.  CPP also comment and advise on 
Challenges where necessary.

 Challenge Cards are discussed at every Super Council, Older Children, 
Young People Council (OCYPC) and Young Adult Council (YAC) meeting.

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 A detailed log is kept by the VSK P&E Team recording the Challenges, 
responsible officers, outcomes and updates to young people.

3. Current Challenges

3.1 For Senior Staff, Members and Corporate Parents to support the upcoming 
YAC charity fundraiser 'Virtual Triathlon to Calais' on Thursday 26 October 2017 
by attending the event and helping to raise sponsorship

Action: Senior Staff, Members and Corporate Parents to save the date and 
support
Costs:  N/A
Outcome: N/A
Feedback to young people: This will be fed back to YAC members and 
actioned at the next meeting on the 7 September 2017.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the Challenge Card progress to date.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Contact details

Report Author
Gemma O’Grady
Participation Co-ordinator, Virtual School Kent 
07912 596646
gemma.o’grady@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 18

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Ofsted outcome, with particular reference to Corporate Parenting
2. Queens Honours award for Teresa Carpenter
3. UASC and National Transfer Scheme trends
4. Adopter recruitment campaign
5. Children in Care events over the summer

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, 
Health and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: REVIEW AND UPDATE OF THE SUFFICIENCY, 
PLACEMENTS AND COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - 
2015-2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: This report provides the Corporate Parenting Panel with an outline of the 
key issues identified to progress with the reviewing and updating of the Sufficiency, 
Placements and Commissioning Strategy.  

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the proposal to review and update the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy 2015-2018.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Corporate Parenting Panel endorsed the Sufficiency, Commissioning and 
Placements Strategy 2015-2018 and this was implemented in summer 2015.

1.2 Three progress reports have been presented to Corporate Parenting Panel 
since its implementation, with the most recent being in January 2017.  This 
report provides the latest update on progress on the current strategy; it outlines 
steps to develop a refreshed approach to sufficiency strategy and to the 
commissioning of accommodation for Children in Care (CiC) and Care Leavers. 

1.3 The Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting has implemented a review of the 
Sufficiency Strategy to ensure it meets regulatory requirements and for the 
strategy to be updated to reflect the current and future demand, for current and 
future accommodation needs. 

1.4 Since the requirement for a sufficiency strategy was first introduced by 
government in 2011, Kent has undergone significant change in the numbers of 
CiC and Care Leavers, including the challenges presented by the significant 
influx of unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people. 

1.5 We have recognised that the scope of the Sufficiency Strategy benefits from 
being extended to include accommodation and support options for Care 
Leavers and vulnerable 16/17 year olds in addition to CiC, across both Kent’s 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



citizen and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) cohort. This will 
enable a more thorough approach to planning, for all children within the cohort 
and engage key multi agency stakeholders including district housing providers 
and commissioned services (fostering, semi-supported accommodation and 
shared accommodation provision).

2. Financial Implications

2.1 The authority makes a significant financial commitment to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for CiC and Care 
Leavers.  Increasing sufficiency includes the provision of residential 
placements, Independent Fostering Agency placements and semi-
independent/shared accommodation.

2.2 All placements are subject to review at Assistant Director level, through the 
Access to Resource Panels.

3. A Review of Current Performance - Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy (2015-18)  

3.1 The strategy outlines four challenges, delivery of which is measured by the 
achievement against the eight measures, as set out at Appendix 1.  Delivery of 
the strategy will continue to be reported on while the Strategy and wider 
accommodation offer for LAC and young people are reviewed.

3.2 The approach to meeting the Council’s responsibilities to provide secure, safe 
and appropriate accommodation to CiC and Care Leavers is centred around the 
five strategic levers that will deliver improvements to sufficiency in Kent.  These 
are:

1. Enhancing early help, prevention and partnership working
2. Further developing in-house foster care services
3. Continuously improving quality of care 
4. Market engagement
5. Continuing to build organisational effectiveness

3.3 The table outlined below provides a summary of the challenges and supporting 
measures outlined in the Sufficiency Strategy, which have been in place now for 
a year.  As a review of the Sufficiency Strategy moves forward it is likely that 
these may change to reflect the challenges currently being faced by the Council 
in meeting the Sufficiency Duty. 

Page 22



Table 1: Sufficiency Strategy –
Key Challenges and Supporting Measures

Challenge 1:  
The need for effective support and 

practice to ensure that as many 
children as possible are able to 
remain living at home with their 

families

Measure 1: 
We will expect to see a 
reduction in the number of 
children and young people in 
care

Challenge 2:
Provision of effective support and 

availability of suitable 
accommodation to meet the needs 

of Care Leavers

Measure 2: 
We expect to see an increase 
in the percentage of Care 
Leavers who are living in 
accommodation suitable for 
their needs
Measure 3: 
We expect to see an increase 
in the number of children 
placed within 20 miles of their 
originating address for children 
with disabilities as well as 
those in the west of the county
Measure 4: 
We expect to see the  
percentage of children 
remaining in the same 
placement for two years to 
remain stable

Challenge 3:  
Access to high quality placements 
that support CiC to have stability 
and to achieve positive outcomes

Measure 5: 
We expect to grow and 
diversify the skill, capability 
and capacity of our in house 
foster carers
Measure 6: 
We expect to see a reduction 
in the number of CiC that have 
three or more placement 
moves per year
Measure 7: 
We expect to see a continued 
reduction in the length of time 
it takes between entering care 
of the Local Authority and an 
Adoption Order being granted. 

Challenge 4:
Quality of practice and support to 
meet the needs of CiC, improving 

their experience of care and 
achieving permanence

Measure 8: 
We expect to see an increase 
in the number of children in 
permanent long term fostering 
placements

Page 23



3.4 The current Sufficiency Strategy performance dashboard is attached at 
Appendix 1.  It provides a summary of the current performance (most recent 
figures as at September 2016) of the eight measures outlined within the 
Strategy.

3.5 On the whole, progress against the eight measures has improved or remained 
stable, building on a gradually improving picture over the last year.  Measure 6 
(reduction of placement moves) has seen a slight deterioration in performance 
and work is continuing to reduce the amount of children who experience three 
or more placement moves per year. 

4. Enhancing our Approach to Meeting the Sufficiency Duty

4.1 For three key reasons it has been decided to undertake an interim review of the 
Sufficiency Strategy.  The reasons are:

1. The impact of UASC, which has been well documented. 
2. The recognition that we would benefit from an holistic review of 

our accommodation offer for CiC, Care Leavers and vulnerable 
16/17 year olds.

3. Ensuring that appropriate action is taken to ensure there is 
sufficiency of accommodation and housing for all children who 
enter care and become Care Leavers

4.2 The number of Looked After Children (LAC) per 10,000 is below the national 
average and statistical neighbours if UASC are excluded.

Page 24



4.3 The following charts provide information regarding the number of increased CiC 
starts in Kent since 2015.

4.4 An interim review document of the Sufficiency Strategy was created by 
Strategic Business Development and Intelligence in March 2017 and updated in 
June 2017.

4.5 This document has been produced to update the sufficiency strategy.  It 
includes information on types of accommodation for CIC and Care Leavers and 
the number of children exiting care through adoption and Special Guardianship 
Orders.  A copy of the interim review document is attached at Appendix 2 to this 
report.

4.6 This work is beginning to underpin the current commissioning programmes of 
work which are aimed at ensuring Kent meets its Sufficiency Duty including:

 External fostering placements 
 Shared accommodation 
 Supported accommodation for older CiC and Care Leavers

4.7 The sufficiency review is aligned to the wider Strategic Review of 
Accommodation, which informs the commissioning intentions for 
accommodation.  This work is being overseen by the Strategic Commissioning 
Board to ensure appropriate, timely and efficient contracting is in place for 
accommodation particularly for Care Leavers and vulnerable young people.

5. Conclusion

5.1 The review of the sufficiency strategy is the Council’s approach to meeting the 
statutory requirement for local authorities to ensure they plan appropriate 
provision for all LAC and Care Leavers.

Page 25



6. Recommendations

6.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the proposal to review and update the Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018.

9. Background Documents

Kent County Council’s Sufficiency, Placement and Commissioning Strategy, 
2015-2018: 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-
social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy

10. Contact Details

Report Author
Charlotte Walker
Commissioning Officer, Children’s Commissioning
03000 410422
charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk 

Challenge

Page 26

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
mailto:charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Appendix One: Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-18 – Performance Summary July 2017

Challenge

P
age 27



P
age 28



[     Business Intelligence Report

Sufficiency Strategy
Interim Review Briefing

Version 2.0 June 2017

Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
www.kent.gov.uk/research 

This document has been produced to support the sufficiency strategy interim review. It 

includes high level information on children in care accommodation and the number of 

adoptions and Special Guardianship Orders. There is also an investigation on the 

accommodation provision for care leavers. The initial analysis within this report will be 

underpinned by longer term areas of work with more in depth analysis and context such as 

the Strategic Review of Accommodation for Children in Care.

Page 29



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 2

Children in Care

Source: LAC list as at 31-05-17, provided by MIU

Placement Type
U6 Placement with other foster carer - not long term or Fostering For Adoption (FFA)
U4 Placement with other foster carer- long term fostering
P2 Independent living
H5 Residential accommodation
K2 Childrens Homes

A6 Placed for adoption with placement order (under section 21 of the 2002 Act) not with 
current foster carer

U1 Foster placement with relative or friend- long term
P1 Placed with own parents
U3 Foster placement with relative or friend- not long term or FFA
S1 All Residential schools

A5 Placed for adoption with placement order (under section 21 of the 2002 Act) with 
current foster carer

R5 Young Offender Institution or prison
R2 NHS/Health Trust
U5 Placement with other foster carer who is also an approved adopter- FFA
R1 Residential care home
U2 Foster placement with relative or friend who is also an approved adopter- FFA
Z1 Other
K1 Secure unit

Table 1- Placement type definitions (Children in Care)

930 381 222 81 72 45 30 24 19 8 8 7 6 5 4 3 1 1

U
6 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 - 
no

t l
on

g 
te

rm
 o

r F
FA

U
4 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- l
on

g 
te

rm
 fo

st
er

in
g

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

K2
 - 

Ch
ild

re
ns

 H
om

es

H5
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

A6
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 fo

r a
do

pt
io

n 
w

ith
 p

la
ce

m
en

t o
rd

er
 (u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

21
 o

f t
he

 
20

02
 A

ct
) n

ot
 w

ith
 c

ur
re

nt
 fo

st
er

 c
ar

er

U
1 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- l
on

g 
te

rm

U
3 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- n
ot

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 o
r F

FA

P1
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 w

ith
 o

w
n 

pa
re

nt
s

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 In

st
itu

tio
n 

or
 p

ris
on

S1
 - 

Al
l R

es
id

en
tia

l s
ch

oo
ls

U
5 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 w
ho

 is
 a

lso
 a

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 a

do
pt

er
- 

FF
A

A5
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 fo

r a
do

pt
io

n 
w

ith
 p

la
ce

m
en

t o
rd

er
 (u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

21
 o

f t
he

 
20

02
 A

ct
) w

ith
 c

ur
re

nt
 fo

st
er

 c
ar

er

R1
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
e

K1
 - 

Se
cu

re
 u

ni
t

R2
 - 

N
HS

/H
ea

lth
 T

ru
st

R3
 - 

Fa
m

ily
 c

en
tr

e 
or

 m
ot

he
r a

nd
 b

ab
y 

un
it

U
2 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

 w
ho

 is
 a

lso
 a

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 

ad
op

te
r-

 F
FA

0

Number of Children in Care (0-17 Citizen and Asylum) by Placement Type

Figure 1 – Number of placed Children in Care (0-17 Citizen and Asylum) 31 May 2017

Page 30



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 3

744 353 81 48 45 37 30 24 19 8 7 6 6 5 4 3 1 1
U

6 
- P

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 o
th

er
 fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
 - 

no
t l

on
g 

te
rm

 o
r F

FA

U
4 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- l
on

g 
te

rm
 fo

st
er

in
g

K2
 - 

Ch
ild

re
ns

 H
om

es

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

A6
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 fo

r a
do

pt
io

n 
w

ith
 p

la
ce

m
en

t o
rd

er
 (u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

21
 o

f t
he

 2
00

2 
Ac

t)
 n

ot
 

w
ith

 c
ur

re
nt

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er H5

 - 
Re

sid
en

tia
l a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n

U
1 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- l
on

g 
te

rm

U
3 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- n
ot

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 o
r F

FA

P1
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 w

ith
 o

w
n 

pa
re

nt
s

S1
 - 

Al
l R

es
id

en
tia

l s
ch

oo
ls

U
5 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 w
ho

 is
 a

lso
 a

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 a

do
pt

er
- F

FA

A5
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 fo

r a
do

pt
io

n 
w

ith
 p

la
ce

m
en

t o
rd

er
 (u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

21
 o

f t
he

 2
00

2 
Ac

t)
 w

ith
 

cu
rr

en
t f

os
te

r c
ar

er

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 In

st
itu

tio
n 

or
 p

ris
on

R1
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
e

K1
 - 

Se
cu

re
 u

ni
t

R2
 - 

N
HS

/H
ea

lth
 T

ru
st

R3
 - 

Fa
m

ily
 c

en
tr

e 
or

 m
ot

he
r a

nd
 b

ab
y 

un
it

U
2 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

 w
ho

 is
 a

lso
 a

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 a

do
pt

er
- F

FA

0

Number of Children in Care (0-17 Citizen) by Placement Type

Figure 2 – Number of placed Children in Care (0-17 Citizen) 31 May 2017

186 174

35 28
2

U
6 

- 
Pl

ac
em

en
t 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 - 
no

t l
on

g 
te

rm
 o

r F
FA

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t 

liv
in

g

H5
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n

U
4 

- 
Pl

ac
em

en
t 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- 
lo

ng
 te

rm
 

fo
st

er
in

g

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 

In
st

itu
tio

n 
or

 
pr

iso
n

0

50

100

150

200

Number of Children in Care (0-17 UASC) by Placement Type

Figure 3 –Number of placed Children in Care (0-17 Asylum) 31 May 2017

The definition of adoption applied within these figures is the number of 
children in care who have been placed in an adoptive placement.

Page 31



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 4

Children in Care – 16 and 17 year olds

Source: LAC list as at 31-05-17, provided by MIU

22 128 58 15

11

3 4 6 1 1
200

94

42
56 10 4 3 1 4 2 1

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

U
6 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 - 
no

t l
on

g 
te

rm
 o

r F
FA

U
4 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- l
on

g 
te

rm
 fo

st
er

in
g

H5
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

K2
 - 

Ch
ild

re
ns

 H
om

es

U
1 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- l
on

g 
te

rm

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 In

st
itu

tio
n 

or
 p

ris
on

P1
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 w

ith
 o

w
n 

pa
re

nt
s

U
3 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- n
ot

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 o
r F

FA

R2
 - 

N
HS

/H
ea

lth
 T

ru
st

S1
 - 

Al
l R

es
id

en
tia

l s
ch

oo
ls

R1
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
e

0

100

200

16

17

16 and 17 year old Children in Care Placement Type

Figure 4 – 16 and 17 year old Children in Care (citizen and asylum) by Placement Type 31 May 2017

Children in  care in foster care will have the option to remain in a Staying Put 
arrangement; those in shared accommodation can remain as care leavers 
(shared accommodation is a sub category of P2 independent living which is 
managed by the Accommodation Service).

The majority of the use of shared accommodation is influenced by immigration 
status. 

There has been an increase in the number of citizen children requesting 
shared accommodation and this offer has been developed in response to a 
request by the Young Adult Council and the takeover challenge day held in 
November 2016.

Page 32



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 5

62 48 9 4 11 6
3

3 1 1
49 30 39 33 10 1 4 2 4 2 1

U
6 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 - 
no

t l
on

g 
te

rm
 o

r F
FA

U
4 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- l
on

g 
te

rm
 fo

st
er

in
g

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

H5
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

K2
 - 

Ch
ild

re
ns

 H
om

es

P1
 - 

Pl
ac

ed
 w

ith
 o

w
n 

pa
re

nt
s

U
1 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- l
on

g 
te

rm

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 In

st
itu

tio
n 

or
 p

ris
on

U
3 

- F
os

te
r p

la
ce

m
en

t w
ith

 re
la

tiv
e 

or
 fr

ie
nd

- n
ot

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 o
r F

FA

R1
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
e

S1
 - 

Al
l R

es
id

en
tia

l s
ch

oo
ls

R2
 - 

N
HS

/H
ea

lth
 T

ru
st

0

16

17

16 and 17 year old Children in Care (Citizen) Placement Type

Figure 5 – 16 and 17 year old Children in Care (citizen) by Placement Type 31 May 2017

13 66 11 10 1

161 45
23 12 1

P2
 - 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

U
6 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 - 
no

t l
on

g 
te

rm
 o

r F
FA

H5
 - 

Re
sid

en
tia

l a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

U
4 

- P
la

ce
m

en
t w

ith
 o

th
er

 fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

- l
on

g 
te

rm
 fo

st
er

in
g

R5
 - 

Yo
un

g 
O

ffe
nd

er
 In

st
itu

tio
n 

or
 p

ris
on

0
60

120
180

16

17

16 and 17 year old Children in Care (UASC) Placement Type

Figure 6 – 16 and 17 year old Children in Care (asylum) by Placement Type 31 May 2017

Page 33



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 6

Foster Care Placements

Source: MIU LAC lists at each month end

203 203 203 200 197 180 177 167 156 144 138 135 129 124

151 155 155 157 162
161 161 155 154 154 149 153 151 156

Apr 
16

May 
16

Jun 
16

Jul 
16

Aug 
16

Sep 
16

Oct 
16

Nov 
16

Dec 
16

Jan 
17

Feb 
17

Mar 
17

Apr 
17

May 
17

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

UASC
Citizen

Children in Care IFA Placements 

Figure 7 –IFA placements at month end 31 May 2017

114 113 113 114 114 116 101 99 101 96 93 99 94 88

974 963 982 975 959 965 958 946 938 918 920 935 942 947

Apr 
16

May 
16

Jun 
16

Jul 
16

Aug 
16

Sep 
16

Oct 
16

Nov 
16

Dec 
16

Jan 
17

Feb 
17

Mar 
17

Apr 
17

May 
17

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

UASC

Citizen

Children in Care KCC Foster Care Placements 

Figure 8 – 16 and 17 year old Children in Care (citizen) by Placement Type 6 Mar 17

Page 34



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 7

Private & Voluntary Residential Children’s Homes Placements 
Starting

Source: Management Information Unit, Weekly CIC Placements Report, 
13th June 2017

7

11

4

13

7

11
10

5

8

5
6

5
6

8

Apr-16May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17Mar-17 Apr-17May-17
0

3

6

9

12

15

1 1 1

1 1 1
1 1 1

1 1
6

10

3

12

6
10 10

4
7

4
5

4 5 51 11 1

Grand Total H5 - Residential accommodation K1 - Secure unit K2 - Childrens Homes
R1 - Residential care home S1 - All Residential schools

Private & Voluntary Residential Children’s Homes Placements 
Totals as at

Source: Management Information Unit, Weekly CIC Placements Report, 
13th June 2017

74 73
71

75 75
73

75

82
79 79

81
79

81 82

Apr-16May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17Mar-17 Apr-17May-17
65

70

75

80

85

1

3

1
2 3 2

11
2 3 3

2
3 3 3

2 2
1

2
3 4

69 66 63 66 68 63 65 69 69 69

71

69 72 73
3 4 4 4 4 5 5 5 5 4 4 4 3 3

1 1 1 1 1
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Grand Total H5 - Residential accommodation K1 - Secure unit K2 - Childrens Homes

Page 35



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 8

Adoptions

Source: DfE figures 2013 – 2016, provisional figures 2016/17, provided 
by MIU,      15th June 2017

Year 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
Adoption Orders Granted 145 181 108 80

Total LAC ends (excl UASC) 787 731 707 641

Percentage Adoption Total 18.4% 24.8% 15.3% 12.5%

Table 2 –Adoption Looked After Children Ends 2014-2017

2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200
Percentage Adoption Total

Adoption Orders Granted

% LAC ends due to Adoptions

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 A

do
pt

io
n 

LA
C 

en
ds

Ad
op

tio
n 

O
rd

er
s g

ra
nt

ed

Figure 9 – Percentage of Looked After Children who ceased to be looked after because of an Adoption during the year

It is noted that the total figure 12.9% takes account of both citizen and asylum 
seeking children. The percentage of adoptions when excluding asylum in 
2015/2016 the figure rises to 15.3%.

The definition of adoption applied within these figures is the number of 
adoption orders which have been made and the child is therefore no longer 
looked after. The peak in 2015 indicates there were a large number of 
adoption orders granted.

Page 36



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 9

Special Guardianship Orders

Source: 2016-2017 New SGO - 09.03.2017, provided by MIU, 15 June 2017

Age <1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 Total

Total SGO 
2016/2017

9 7 11 8 7 7 8 7 7 7 3 7 0 3 5 2 1 1 100

Table 3 – SGO 2016-2017 breakdown

<1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Age profile of SGO placments 2016-17

Age

N
um

be
r o

f S
GO

Figure 10 – Age profile of Special Guardianship Order placements 2016-2017

Of the total 100 SGOs in 2016/2017, 54 were looked after children prior to the 
order being made and 46 had not been looked after children.

Page 37



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 10

Care Leavers

Forecasted Figures

Source: Provided by Ian Valentine MIU, 10 March 2017

 2016/2017 Forecasted Profile
18 19 20 21+ Total

Care Leavers (Citizen) 193 207 168 22 621

Care Leavers (Asylum) 353 208 95 34 696

Total 546 415 263 56 1280

Table 4 – Care Leaver forecasted profile 2016/2017

 2017/2018 Forecasted Profile
18 19 20 21+ Total

Care Leavers (Citizen) 180 169 207 7 563

Care Leavers (Asylum) 242 332 233 64 871

Total 422 501 440 71 1434

Table 5 – Care Leaver forecasted profile 2017/2018

The definition of care leaver applied above is former relevant (qualifying and 
relevant are excluded). These young people will have been in care for more 
than 13 weeks since they were 14, including when they were 16/17, and are 
aged 18-21.

The level of support the leaving care service provides depends on their status, 
i.e. are you ‘eligible’, ‘relevant’, ‘former relevant’ or ‘qualifying’? The status of 
a young person depends on their age, when they were in care and for how 
long. The figures above are based on legal status and not accommodation 
type, so therefore the total accommodation provision will be over-represented. 

Page 38



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 11

Current Accommodation Distribution

Source: MIU, June 2017

 2016/2017
Placement Type Citizen Asylum
Supported Accommodation(SAiFE / SLODs) 11% 2%
Staying Put 12% 3%
Shared Accommodation 6% 66%
Semi-Independent Accommodation 12% 7%
Safety Pods 0.4% 0%
With parents or relatives/Connected Person 22% 6%
Social Housing 15% 5%
Private Rented 11% 8%
Other 10% 2%

Table 6 – 2016/2017 Care Leaver Accommodation distribution

Citizen Asylum
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Other (e.g. Emergency, Bed 
and Breakfast)

Supported Accommodation 
(SAiFE / SLODs)

Staying Put

Semi-Independent 
Accommodation

Safety Pods

With parents or 
relatives/Connected Person

Shared Accommodation

Social Housing

Private Rented

2016/2017 Care Leaver Accommodation Distribution

Figure 11 – 2016/2017 Care Leaver Accommodation distribution

Page 39



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 12

Planning is underway to ensure there continues to be a range of housing 
options for all care leavers. There is a focus to increase Staying Put and 
renew the Supported Accommodation commissioning arrangements.

There is work being undertaken with district councils to ensure there is social 
housing available and the Leader of KCC is taking a personal interest in 
developing housing options for care leavers.

The shared accommodation project is looking at developing tenancies for 
individuals where it is assessed as appropriate supporting their ability to claim 
housing benefit 

The volume of care leavers that are now the responsibility of KCC means that 
shared accommodation had to be considered particularly for asylum seeking 
children. Citizen care leavers have requested a shared accommodation 
option.

The volume of asylum seeking children has supported the development of a 
strategy to increase the accommodation offer for asylum care leavers and 
citizen young people.

Current Alternative HRS 
Scenario 

Alternative HRS 
Scenario (Additional 

Floating Support)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100% Floating Support

Private Rented

Social Housing

Shared Accommodation

Semi Independent

Supported Lodgings (SLODs / 
SAiFE)

Housing Related Support

Not Applicable

Other

Living with Parents or Relatives / 
Connected Person

Safety Pods

Short Break Units 0-25 (In House)

Staying Put

Ci
tiz

en
 A

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n

Figure 12 – Proposed Citizen Care Leaver Accommodation Model

Page 40



    Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council
    www.kent.gov.uk/research 

Page 13

Current Alternative HRS 
Scenario 

Alternative HRS 
Scenario 

(Additional 
Floating Support)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100% Floating Support

Private Rented

Social Housing

Shared Accommodation

Semi Independent

Supported Lodgings (SLODs / SAiFE)

Housing Related Support

Not Applicable

Other

Living with Parents or Relatives / 
Connected Person

Safety Pods

Short Break Units 0-25 (In House)

Staying Put

As
yl

um
 A

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n

Figure 13 – Proposed UASC Care Leaver Accommodation Model

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IN THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE 
SYSTEM; A SUMMARY OF THE TAYLOR, LAMING AND 
LAMMY REVIEWS

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The report will summarise the work of three reviews that incorporate 
Children in Care in the Criminal Justice system.  It will also provide an update of the 
picture in Kent for this cohort of children within the Criminal Justice system.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the issues 
raised and the impact on Children in Care in Kent.

1. Introduction

1.1 There are currently three relevant reviews which relate to Children in Care 
(CiC), or who have experienced care, in the Criminal Justice system.  The 
Taylor review examined the Youth Justice system, the Laming review 
considered Looked After Children (LAC) in the Youth Justice system and the 
Lammy review, which has published emerging findings, is reviewing the 
experience of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic individuals within the Criminal 
Justice system.

2. The Taylor review

2.1 The Taylor review established particular principles around the Youth Justice 
system.  These included that children should be treated differently to adults; 
education is central to any response to youth offending; minor offending should 
be dealt with outside of the Criminal Justice system; a multi-agency approach is 
critical.

2.2 The Government response to the Taylor review has focused primarily on youth 
custody; two secure schools will be established, staffing numbers in Young 
Offender Institutions will be increased and education will be at the heart of youth 
custody.  Responses to other areas of the report are that the Ministry of Justice 
will review or consider current practice but do not contain specific details about 
actions to be taken.

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



2.3 Education and Health. The report raises concerns about the role of education 
and health as part of the statutory response to Youth Offending, and identifies 
national questions about high thresholds and a different culture within health, 
and education playing a peripheral role in rehabilitation.

2.4 Diversion. The report calls for swift decisions to be taken locally so that there is 
little delay between the young person’s behaviour and the response to that 
behaviour from services.  Diversion schemes should have easy access to other 
services such as health and education.  It is recommended that the Local 
Authority, Police and Health jointly operate diversion schemes and the report 
states that, ‘youth offending should be dealt with at the lowest possible level, 
avoiding… unnecessary escalation…a simple justice response to offending will 
not be sufficient.’

2.5 The critical performance measures for Youth Justice Services are to monitor 
first time entrants, the numbers of young people who enter custody and also 
reoffending rates.  The review suggests that there is reporting on the number of 
LAC, the quality of services they receive and outcomes they achieve, those who 
are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic, and those who are Not in Education 
Employment or Training. 

3. The Laming review

3.1 Young people. The review found that 94% of young people in care do not get 
into trouble with the law, but more than 50% of young people in custody were 
either in care or had been at some point, and CiC were significantly over-
represented in the Criminal Justice system with many reporting having a poor 
experience.  Young people reported that they often felt isolated and 
unsupported at critical moments, and particularly needed support when they 
had court appearances or were entering and spending time in custody.

3.2 Leadership. There is an emphasis in the review on strong leadership to prevent 
unnecessary criminalisation of LAC.  This specifies the development of a local 
authority strategy to improve outcomes for LAC in the Criminal Justice system, 
regular reporting to Directors of Children’s Services on CiC in the Criminal 
Justice system and close working relationships between children’s services and 
Criminal Justice agencies with the common aim of ensuring LAC are protected 
from unnecessary criminalisation. 

3.3 Diversion and Early Intervention. The review identified that collaborative 
working between the Police, Crown Prosecution Service Children’s Services 
and Youth Justice services was essential to minimise police involvement in 
responding to challenging behaviour, that decisions to prosecute should be 
informed by an understanding of a young person’s circumstances and general 
character, and young people in care should be offered peer mentors to help 
them engage in positive diversionary activities.

Page 44



4. The Lammy review

4.1 The Lammy review has published an analysis paper which found that black 
women were more than twice as likely to be sentenced to custody as white 
women, and black men were more than 40% more likely than white men when 
looking at specific offences.  They were also more likely to be remanded into 
custody before trial than their white counterparts.  The number of Muslim 
prisoners has doubled in the last decade

4.2 Young people. 41% of youth prisoners are from minorities backgrounds, 
compared with 25% ten years ago, despite prisoner numbers falling by some 
66% in that time.

4.3 The Lammy review is currently drawing up recommendations which will shortly 
be provided to the Government. 

5. The Kent Picture

5.1 In April 2017 Kent Youth Justice services restructured to support the 
development of a wholly integrated approach.  Within the restructure there were 
improvements made to the working arrangements between Youth Justice and 
Education Services including Virtual School Kent, Pupil Referral Unit, Inclusion 
and Attendance, Special Education Needs, and Skills and the Employability 
Service. The focus of the changes has been to improve the education 
attainment of young people known to Youth Justice.

5.2 As part of the reconfiguration of Emotional Health and Wellbeing Services, the 
redesign incorporates a greater focus on the rapid assessment and support of 
young people within the Youth Justice system.

5.3 The Kent County Youth Justice Board currently monitors performance within the 
Criminal Justice system, including CiC and those from a Black, Asian or 
Minority Ethnic background.

5.4 In Kent the performance has been positive as the number of First Time Entrants 
has fallen from 614 in 2014/15 to 300 in 2016/17.  The numbers of young 
people in custody have also fallen from 44 to 28 in the same period, and the 
rate of reoffending has reduced. 

5.5 The number of young people involved within the Criminal Justice system has 
fallen in the past three years, as there has been an increased focus on 
diversion and collaboration between KCC and Kent Police.  However, the 
number of CiC in the Criminal Justice system has remained relatively 
unchanged in the same period

Page 45



Diagram 1: YOT caseload as at the last day of each quarter

Diagram 2: Kent CiC open to YOT as at the last day of each quarter

5.6 The CiC within the Youth Justice system in the last quarter of 2016/17 can be 
charted against the findings of the Laming review with the following 
characteristics:

YOT caseload as at 31 March 2017
Total YOT caseload 246
Kent CiC 43 17.5%
Children in Need 40 16%
Number subject to a Child 
Protection Plan 

6 0.25%

Page 46



Care leavers (over 18 and 
open to YOT)

14 5.6%

Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seekers

4 1.6%

BAME Representation 39 15.8%
Of the CiC (Total: 43) Of the Care 

Leavers (total 14)
37 9
5 4

Community sentence
Custodial sentence
On remand 1 1
BAME 6 2

5.6 There are currently protocols between Youth Justice services and Children’s 
Services which aim to improve outcomes for those children open to statutory 
children’s services:

a) The Transfer of Children to Local Authority Accommodation from police 
custody – this ensures that young people are not kept unnecessarily in 
police cells 

b) The Specialist Children’s Services (SCS) and Youth Justice Joint 
Protocol – this provides guidance for staff to ensure appropriate joint 
planning and working for young people known to both SCS and Youth 
Justice.  There is an emphasis on keeping young people out of the 
criminal justice system and to minimising the use of custody

c) The Kent Criminal Justice Board Kent CiC Protocol – this provides 
guidance for all criminal justice agencies on how to reduce the 
unnecessary prosecution of CiC by encouraging the use of alternative 
resolution processes

5.7 In April 2016 Youth Justice Services and Kent Police agreed a process for 
dealing with all minor offending through an out of court disposal.  As part of this 
process, representatives from Kent and Medway Youth Justice Teams sit on a 
panel with Kent Police and review the cases of all LAC before a decision is 
made about the support to be offered and the most appropriate criminal justice 
outcome.  The expectation is that the child’s social worker will also contribute to 
this panel. 

5.8 The County Youth Justice Board has commissioned six-monthly deep dives to 
explore the practice and joint planning for Kent LAC known to the Criminal 
Justice system.

6. Conclusion

6.1 The findings from the reviews identify that CiC are over-represented within the 
Criminal Justice system, and that those from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic 
background may be treated less favourably than their white counterparts.

6.2 The reviews identify some areas where services can collaborate around 
leadership, scrutiny and delivery which will make a positive impact on these 
children within the Criminal Justice system

Page 47



6.3 Within Kent the numbers of LAC within the Criminal Justice system have not 
reduced in line with their non-looked after counterparts.  The review of the 
protocols and the ongoing scrutiny of joint working relationships is intended to 
bring about improvements to the positive outcomes of LAC. 

7. Recommendations

7.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the issues 
raised and the impact on Children in Care in Kent.

8. Background Documents

The Taylor review of the Youth Justice System 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-the-youth-justice-system

The Laming review of Looked After Children in the Youth Justice System 
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/In%20care%20out%2
0of%20trouble%20summary.pdf

The Lammy review of of the treatment of, and outcomes for, Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) individuals in the Criminal Justice System (CJS)
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/lammy-review/about

9. Contact Details

Lead Officers:
Louise Fisher
Head of Service (Youth Justice) 
03000 414791 
Louise.fisher@kent.gov.uk

Mark Powell
Improvement Manager (Youth Justice)
03000 411071
Mark.powell@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director:
Stuart Collins
Director of Early Help & Preventative Services
03000 410519
Stuart.collins@kent.gov.uk

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-the-youth-justice-system
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/In%20care%20out%20of%20trouble%20summary.pdf
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/In%20care%20out%20of%20trouble%20summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/lammy-review/about
mailto:Louise.fisher@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.powell@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Stuart.collins@kent.gov.uk


From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: INDEPENDENT REVIEWING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 
2016/2017

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary:  The Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report for 2016/17 is 
attached as Appendix 1.  This report provides an account of the performance of the 
Council’s Independent Reviewing Officer Service for Children in Care from 1 April 
2016 to 31 March 2017

Recommendation:  Members of Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT on the Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report and its findings.

1. Introduction

1.1 Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance (IRO 
Handbook) requires that the service manager of each local authority’s 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service produce an annual report for the 
scrutiny of elected Members and the responsible local authority’s corporate 
parenting board.

1.2 This reports sets out the work of the IRO Service, supported by findings from 
the Quality Assurance (QA) audit programme and monthly QA reporting.

1.3 The report includes both quantitative information about performance and the 
quality of practice as well as examples of the views of children/young people 
about the IRO service and Social Work practice.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT ON the Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report and its 
findings

3. Background Documents

None

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



4. Contact Details

Lead Officer
Paul Startup 
Service Manager Quality Assurance and Safeguarding
03000 419978
Paul.startup@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 50

mailto:Paul.startup@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Independent Reviewing Service
ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017

Page 51



Introduction

An annual report of the Independent Reviewing Service for looked after children is required 
in accordance with the Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 and this report provides a 
summary of work completed by the IRO service in Kent for the period between 1st April 2016 
and 31st March 2017. 

The development of the IRO Service

All local authorities have a statutory duty to regularly review the care plan of children in their 
care within the legislative timescales as set out in the Care Planning and Case Review 
Regulations (2010). The appointment of an IRO for every looked after child is a legal 
requirement under section 118 of the Adoption and Children Act (2002) and the subsequent 
Review of Children’s Cases Regulations (2004). The role of the IRO was strengthened in the 
Children and Young Person’s Act (2008) and Care Planning, Placement Regulations and 
Case Review (2010).

Since April 2011, the IRO role has been strengthened and its role and function clarified and 
set down in the IRO Handbook. Essentially the responsibility of the IRO changed from the 
management of the LAC review process to a wider overview of the child’s case, including 
monitoring of the care plan in between reviews. This a key role within the Council in relation 
to the improvement of care planning for Children in Care and for challenging drift and delay 
in the implementation of care plans and permanency planning for our children and young 
people. 

In June 2013 Ofsted published a report; “Independent Reviewing Officers: taking up the 
challenge?” Inspectors found that senior leaders valued the quality assurance role of the 
IRO, with most saying that they would welcome more consistent, and stronger, challenge 
from IROs. There is a continued need to ensure that IROs are sufficiently supported and 
challenged by leaders in driving effective improvement in services for children in care.

In November 2014 findings from a research study by The Centre for Research on the Child 
and Family (CRCF) at the University of East Anglia were published. The project focussed on 
care planning and the role of the IRO and found the IRO role had ‘bedded down’, has a 
higher profile and greater acceptance within Local Authorities. The research found that  
IROs have become more active and interventionist and social workers and team mangers 
usually valued the input of the IROs even when they found it challenging. Social workers 
welcomed advice and monitoring and most IROs enjoyed this collaborative working to 
improve practice. The IRO service needs to develop a stronger collective voice within their 
organisation which in turn needs to harness the learning and share the messages from 
individual cases.

Page 52



Executive Summary

The last year remained challenging for the whole of Children’s Services, with the large 
numbers of young people who had presented as Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 
(UASC) during 2015 continuing to have an impact during 2016. For the Independent 
Reviewing Service there was a need to operate a “business as usual” service for our existing 
young people whilst responding to the particular needs of these vulnerable young people 
who had become Looked After. This required the Independent Reviewing Service to 
assimilate as many UASC young people into the caseloads of existing staff as possible and 
recruit an additional seven locum IROs simply to deal with the basic needs of the 1000+ 
UASC young people who were accommodated during 2015. 

The National Transfer Scheme started in July 2016.  By March 2017, 233 UASC dispersals 
had taken place from Kent to other Local Authorities.

The service to citizen children in care has been maintained and enhanced during 2016.The 
IRO Service has focused its resources to carry out the “added value” activities of increased 
contact with young people between reviews, to consistently set caseloads at 70 per FTE and 
to identify specialist work streams for individual IROs to develop.

The ethnic component of the CIC population remains largely White at 1310 with 196 young 
people classified as Black and a further sizeable group of 252 young people classified as 
“other”. 

This latter group falls within the UASC cohort who have moved to England from Eritrea, 
Syria, Egypt, Afghanistan and Albania.

The IRO Service has during 2016 continued to work with partners in Health and Education 
as well as with the UASC Social Work Teams, to provide a comprehensive initial review for 
UASC young people. 

The total number of reviews chaired by IROs in the year April 2016 to March 2017 was 6081, 
including initial and additional reviews following a placement change. 

There is clear evidence of IRO challenge to poor care planning and standards through the 
use of both informal and formal Dispute Resolutions.  This is an area where reflection on the 
value of challenge as a positive indicator of an active corporate scrutiny function has 
benefitted the organisation.

Social work services to young people in care are generally good, but they are still not 
achieving the higher performance profile within quality assurance processes that would 
suggest that the Council is delivering optimum results for all the young people in its care.

Of particular concern however is the significant number of children who experience three or 
more placement moves after they become Looked After. Currently this stands at a total of 
236 (12% of the Looked After population of Kent). A total of 190 young people who 
experienced three or more placement moves fall between the age of 12 and 17. 

Page 53



CYP who experienced 3 or more placement moves Apr 16 to Mar 17

Age 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 15 Total
0 3         3
1 4         4
2 2         2
3 1         1
4 1 1        2
5 2 1        3
6   1       1
7 4 1        5
8 2 1  1      4
9 3 1        4

10 8  1 1      10
11 5   1   1   7
12 4 2 1 2 1 1    11
13 13 3 2  1     19
14 4 6 4 1 2     17
15 18 2 3 2 1 1  1 1 29
16 26 8 3 2  1  1  41
17 40 17 9 4 2  1   73

Total 140 43 24 14 7 3 2 2 1 236

The IRO Service has a crucial role to play in scrutinizing whether children and young people 
are being appropriately matched to carers, and whether carers are being appropriately 
supported to provide consistent, reparative and committed care to young people who have 
complex care needs. Achieving placement stability for Looked After children, demands that 
collaborative efforts are made and sustained by social workers, foster carers, supervising 
fostering social workers, IROs and our partners in education and health to support 
placements. The IRO service will therefore be working closely with the Fostering Service and 
Children in Care social work teams to reflect on factors which put the risk of placement 
stability at risk and consider how support to foster carers to strengthen placements is to be 
delivered by supervising fostering social workers. 

During 2016/2017 there has been a strong drive within the county for young people to have 
consistent and coordinated support as they make the transition to independent living. 
Collaborative working arrangements between social work and the leaving care service are 
now in place and it is been helpful and reassuring to young people to have their allocated 
Personal Assistants meet them before their 18th birthday and for a member of the leaving 
care service attend their review meeting prior to their 18th birthday.  

The Role and Responsibility of IROs

Kent as the Corporate Parent and its partners in delivering services, make a positive 
difference for children and young people in our care by investing in them, holding those 

Page 54



responsible for looking after young people on many different levels accountable for the care 
and support provided, and ensuring that service planning takes account of their identified 
needs. As with any concerned parent, Kent wants the children and young people in our care 
to achieve the best outcomes they can, to be happy and safe with the people they live with 
and who care for them, and to have a positive sense of themselves as young citizens in 
communities that value them. 

Part of the Council’s commitment to overseeing good outcomes for children and young 
people in our care is the continued investment in a strong Independent Reviewing Service.  
By doing so the Council continues to make sure that there is proper scrutiny of care plans so 
that they reflect each child and young person’s needs, that the actions required to achieve 
the plan are identified and implemented effectively in a timely way, and that the young 
person’s support network provides a cohesive response to their needs.

The IRO function and how it undertakes tasks is set out in the Department for Education’s 
IRO Handbook, which forms part of the regulations and statutory guidance; Volume 2 of the 
“Children Act 1989 – Care Planning, Placement and Case Review”. 

The statutory duties of the IRO as set out in Section 25B [1] of the Children Act 1989 are:

 
 Monitor the performance by the local authority of their functions in relation to the 

child’s case
 Participate (usually as chair) in any reviews of the child’s case
 Ensure that any ascertained wishes and feelings of the child concerning the case are 

given due consideration by the appropriate authority.  IROs are expected to arrange 
to have contact with children in care before the day of their review meetings

In addition IROs have the power to:

 Adjourn reviews under Regulation 36(2) if they are satisfied that the local authority 
has not complied adequately with all the requirements relating to the review (such as 
consulting the child/young person, parents etc.)

 Freeze decisions until a child in care’s review has been held that involve any 
unplanned change to the child’s accommodation that would impact on their education 
(especially at key stage 4), changes of placement where the child has been settled 
and established for some time, and changing their legal status before the age of 18 
years.

 Raise concerns through the local authority’s formal dispute resolution process, which 
should have a timescale of no more than 20 days.

 Refer cases to the Children and Families Court Advisory Service (CAFCASS) under 
Regulation 45, which may include the use of a concurrent referral at the same time 
that they instigate a formal dispute resolution.

The IRO role is an independent one by its very nature and the IRO service has a key role to 
play in ensuring that care planning is robust, does not result in drift; and through the Review 
process identifies pathways for rehabilitation to family care or other supports that enables a 
young person to cease to become looked after wherever possible. The IRO is expected to 

Page 55



provide robust challenge where children’s outcomes are being hampered across the 
spectrum of service delivery by the Council and its partner agencies.

Kent County Council’s IRO service

The IRO service is part of Specialist Children’s Services and sits within the Safeguarding 
and Quality Assurance Unit. The day to day running of the IRO Service is undertaken by two 
Quality Assurance Managers under the management of the Safeguarding Quality Assurance 
Service Manager who answers to the Assistant Director for Safeguarding and Quality 
Assurance. 

There are 2 IRO teams which are coterminous with two operational areas apiece: North 
West and South East. 

Within Kent, the IRO function is separate from the Independent Child Protection Chairs 
Service, although there is the possibility of a CP Chair undertaking the IRO role in certain 
circumstances.

IROs were regraded to KR12 Team Manager level as a way of recognising their role and 
authority within the Council’s Corporate Parenting function. While recruitment of permanent 
staff has proved difficult, especially in the North West because of the general shortage of 
IROs nationally and the particular pull from outer London, the IRO Service has been able to 
recruit more permanent IROs this year. The South East is more stable with an almost 
completely permanent establishment.   

For the 2016/17 the settled establishment was planned to be 29 full time or equivalent IROs 
with an average caseload of 70. During the year the dispersal of Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children combined with more recently a significant number of these young people 
turning eighteen has enabled the reduction of additional locum UASC focussed IROs.

The Service has adapted well to the challenges posed by the dispersal scheme ensuring 
reviews take place within timescales where dispersal is delayed.

Ongoing Development of IROs

All IROs receive regular supervision from the IRO Quality Assurance  manager through 
individual and group supervision, the latter providing a peer mentoring element to the 
process where IROs can discuss and identify good practice or highlight areas of difficulty. 
There is a monthly meeting schedule split into bi-monthly Team meetings alternating with bi-
monthly IRO Group supervision, and there are quarterly countywide Practice meetings. 
These are well attended and provide a forum for practice development and maintain a 
county-wide cohesion in the IRO group. County staff meetings are held every 6 months and 
currently an annual “away day” enables the service to reflect on progress and to look at key 
areas of development for further practice improvements and service delivery. The most 
recent away day took place in October 2016 and focused on:

 Key changes in procedures and role of the IRO in Quality Assurance 

Page 56



 Communication tools and encouraging participation at reviews for disabled children 

 s20 and planning for children and young people

 Throughout the year IROs have accessed individual and more specialised training 
through the KSCB training programme. Permanent IROs have been trained in Signs of 
Safety with recent recruits booked on to the training. The Quality Assurance Managers 
are designated Practice Leads in Signs of Safety. There has also been training delivered 
by Research In Practice on the role of the IRO completed in May 2016, and county IRO 
practice/team meetings have included updates on FGC; Mental Capacity Act; and, 
Pathway Planning.

 As part of service self-evaluation the IRO Quality Assurance Managers undertake case 
file audit of each IRO within supervision and observation of a review meeting. The 
findings from these case file audits and observations are used to provide feedback 
during supervision. This approach reflects good practice highlighted by Ofsted in their 
June 2013 report evaluating IRO services in England.

 The IRO Quality Assurance Managers attend the area based Child in Care Panels; Local 
multi agency Adolescent Risk Management Panels; County Child in Care Service 
meetings;  Adoption Operational Group Meetings; area based/district meetings; 
Independent Visitor Service meetings. 

 Over the last year the IRO Service has undertaken bespoke reviews on children Placed 
with Parents; children known to the Youth Justice System; and contributed to updates on 
procedures for looked after children.

 IROs have “lead” roles which are designed to work with the service areas on promoting 
practice. Lead roles include Family Group Conferencing; participation; Unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children; fostering; adoption; child sexual exploitation; permanence; care 
leavers; education; youth justice.

 The IRO Service has contributed to the planning and delivery of the Transition Workshop 
in November 2016 on care leavers for foster carers and other professionals. 

 Co-developed a film on encouraging participation for children and young people at 
reviews.  

 Co-developed an e-learning training course on care planning, placement and review. 

 Contributed to the development of a Signs of Safety compliant foster carer feedback 
form. 

 The NW IRO Quality Assurance Manager has been appointed as the co-chair for the 
South East IRO Managers Group which feeds into the national IRO group.

Page 57



Service Demographics:

223
321

593

276 234

68

46

65

68

North South East West SUASC Central
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Kent Asylum

Current Number of LAC as at 31/03/17

2427

1894

2015/16 2016/17
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Number CYP at year end 2015/16 & 2016/17

figure 2

The number of children and young people in care at year end was 1894.  1413 are Citizen 
Children and 481 are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). 234 UASC are 
held within the SUASC Central Teams. The reduction in this group is accounted for by the 
number of young people who turned 18 in January 2017 and the current voluntary dispersal 
scheme in operation, which has young people move to the care of other authorities. This has 
enabled the IRO Service to begin to look at reducing the number of locum IROs employed 
and begin to plan for a further reduction in coming months as other young people potentially 
move away from Kent under the proposed national dispersal scheme.

Children in Care by Gender/Ethnicity /Age

By Gender  By Ethnicity
Case holding 

Teams Girls Boys White Mixed Asian Black Other
Kent  645 1,249 1,310 87 49 196 252

Page 58



53 46

31 27 30 26 31

53 67 77 88 89 11
5

11
7 13

4

20
7

27
3

43
0

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450

LAC by age as at 31/03/17

By age

The largest age group of LAC in 2016/2017 were those at 16 and 17 at 703. Those young 
people who presented as UASC in 2015 has influenced this total. There is a clear increase 
in accommodations when young people reach age 12 years and includes those children who 
transfer into specialist residential/educational provision related to disability, and who then 
become classed as Looked After Children under Section 20 (4) Children Act 1989. Figures 
demonstrate the increased accommodation of children post birth and in their first year of 
infancy. This suggests an increase in pre-birth assessments being undertaken on parents 
assessed as ‘high risk’ and the early identification of the need for care proceedings to be 
initiated.  IROs continue to actively consider the ongoing use of Section 20 and the 
permanence needs of this cohort of very young children within this crucial window. 

Ap
r-

16

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Ju
l-1

6

Au
g-

16

Se
p-

16

O
ct

-1
6

N
ov

-1
6

De
c-

16

Ja
n-

17

Fe
b-

17

M
ar

-1
7

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Voluntary Accomodation 
(Section 20)
Care Order
Police Protection

Legal Status at the point of becoming looked after

Section 20 Cases:

The impact of the changed legal view with regard to the appropriate use of Section 20 of the 
Children Act 1989, led to a review of all relevant non-UASC Section 20 cases. This has 
required a renewed focus from IROs to be mindful of the need to reflect on and challenge 
the ongoing suitability of accommodation under Section 20 for non-UASC children in care. 

Page 59



Staying Put:

The introduction of the “Staying Put” policy offers support to young people leaving care and 
an opportunity to remain living in their foster placement for a period of time after their 18th 
birthday. The IRO Service has played a role in exploring this option with young people and 
their foster carers prior to transition to the 18+ Service so that all the parameters that may 
affect ongoing stability are assessed in a timely way and both parties are clear about the 
support available and the expectations of the placement and the young person. Staying Put 
as an option is becoming more prevalent within Kent with 68 Staying Put arrangements in 
place in the 2016/17, compared with 49 in 2015/16 and 14 in 2014/15.  

Children leaving care:

A total of 1339 children/young people left the care system during 2016/2017.

An analysis of children who ceased to be Looked After during 2016/17 indicated.

 324 of 1339 leavers = 24.2%: children returned to the care of their parents.
 54 of 1339 leavers = 4.0% : Special Guardianship Orders made
 79 of 1339 leavers = 5.9%:  were adopted
 121 of 1339 leavers = 9.0% : 18+ - moving on to independent living
 699 of 1339 leavers = 52.2% SUASC becoming 18 years of age/ dispersal scheme.

IRO Caseloads

The average IRO caseload at the year-end was 64.1, although there will be IROs with more 
young people in their caseload. This figure includes the spread of cases across the whole 
IRO Service including those who hold UASC caseloads. It represents a decrease in 
caseload reflected by children exiting the service at 18. 

IRO visits to children between their reviews is most visible In the South and East with 61.9%, 
61.6%, 66.5% and 65.1% across Quarters 1, 2, 3 and 4 respectively. 

The total number of reviews chaired by IROs in the year April 2016 to March 2017 was 6081 
including initial and additional reviews following a placement change.

IRO practice and performance, including findings from feedback surveys

98
.1

%

98
.3

%

97
.8

% 10
0.

0%

98
.7

%

98
.7

%

99
.6

%

99
.7

%

99
.6

%

99
.8

%

98
.9

%

10
0.

0%

95
.4

%

95
.6

%

95
.7

%

10
0.

0%

98
.2

%

97
.1

% 99
.4

%

99
.4

%

99
.3

%

10
0.

0%

98
.0

% 10
0.

0%

Apr-1
6

May
-16

Jun-16
Jul-1

6

Aug-1
6

Se
p-16

Oct-
16

Nov-1
6

Dec-1
6

Jan
-17

Fe
b-17

Mar-
17

94.0%

96.0%

98.0%

100.0%

102.0%

Kent incl UASC
Kent excl UASC

Reviews chaired within timescale 
Apr 16 - Mar 17

Page 60



Between April 2016 and March 2017 the IRO service chaired 99.1% reviews within 
timescale. The IRO service has remained committed to ensure timely completion of all 
review meetings, reflected in table above.

Participation and Consultation:

5.9%

28.3%

34.4%

39.7%

37.8%

30.2%

100.0%

45.7%

42.3%

56.4%

41.5%

19.9%

18.0%

PN1

PN2

PN3

PN5

PN6

5-9 Yrs
10-15 Yrs
16+ Yrs

Participation at review Apr 16 to Mar 17

Key: PN1 Child attended & spoke for self. PN2 Child attended – advocate spoke. PN3 Child 
attended – gave views non verbally. PN5 Child not attended advocate briefed with views. 
PN6 Child not attended views sent.

 Participation of child/young person at Statutory Review= 96.3%  (children aged 4 
years and younger not included )

 Children and young people chairing their own review meetings: 

 Full:  4.0%                                     Part: 11.3%

Children and young people are encouraged by their IROs, social worker and foster carer to 
participate in their reviews most spoke for themselves or an advocate attended with them or 
acted on their behalf.

 LEAVING CARE SURVEYS– 84 REPLIES RECEIVED IN 2016/17, AN INCREASE OF 54 ON 
THE 2015/16 FIGURE OF 30.

 FEEDBACK FROM FOSTER CARERS: 277 REPLIES RECEIVED IN 2016/17 WHICH IS AN 
INCREASE OF 274 ON THE 2015/16 FIGURE OF 3.

 FEEDBACK FROM PARENTS: 24 REPLIES RECEIVED IN 2016/17. NO REPLIES WERE 
RECEIVED IN THE 2015/16 PERIOD.

Whilst the participation of children and young people in their Reviews is good at 96.3%, 
there continues to be a need to improve performance in relation to young people actively 
chairing/part chairing their reviews which has remained at a low baseline. Feedback from 
foster carers has improved.  However feedback from parents remains low and will require a 
collaborative effort between IROs and social workers to reenergise the 

Page 61



consultation/participation process. The IRO Service and children’s social work teams have 
during the course of the past year been trialling new media platforms such as the MOMO 
(Mind Of My Own) app to achieve greater engagement and participation by young people in 
their Review preparation, enable young people to have their voice heard within the care 
planning process and empower children and young people to take control of their lives.

Achieving Permanence:

Close, collaborative work between the IROs, adoption and social work teams has been 
maintained to achieve early permanency for young children. IROs have established links 
with Childrens’ Guardians to consider obstacles in the way of achieving early permanency 
for children who become Looked After.  The need for early permanency planning meetings, 
robust Family Group Conferencing to consider all care options available to children is now 
firmly embedded in social work practice when considering all care options available to 
children before care proceedings are initiated and children become Looked After. 

Life Story Books and work:

The need for children who are Looked After  to have access to life story books has been 
recognised and the IROs have tracked progress made with the completion of life story books 
at  and between review meetings as progress is made with securing adoption orders and 
permanency of care for children.  The provision of Life story work with children placed in long 
term foster care continues to be encouraged by IROs

Access to Independent Visitors:

The County’s commitment to providing an independent visiting service to Children who are 
Looked After has continued and during 2016/2017 a total of 66 children have been linked in 
with an independent visitor attached to the Young Lives Foundation.  In recognition of the 
added value this service holds for children who have not been able to maintain strong links 
with their birth families or are placed out of county, the IRO service meets with Young Lives 
Foundation throughout the year to review the impact of befriending and visiting on the lives 
of the children they support.  

Page 62



DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESSES 2016/17

Level 
1

Level 
2

Level 
3

Level 
4

Level 
5 Total

C&F / Core / Needs Ass  DR 1.6% 0.5% 2.1%
Care Plan/PWP DR 21.7% 8.2% 2.7% 32.6%
permanence DR 1.0% 0.8% 1.8%
stable placement DR 3.4% 0.3% 0.8% 4.5%
safety DR 0.5% 0.3% 0.8%
health DR 1.0% 0.3% 0.3% 1.6%
education DR 4.4% 1.0% 5.4%
promotion of interests DR 0.6% 0.6% 1.2%
participation in care planning 
DR 0 0 0.0%
contact DR 1.4% 0.3% 1.7%
visits DR 1.9% 0.3% 2.2%
direct work DR 0 0.3% 0.3%
Life Story Work 1.6% 1.6% 3.2%
Later Life Letter 0.3% 0 0.3%
contingency DR 0.5% 0.8% 1.3%
Pre-meeting Report  DR Not 
there 7.1% 2.2% 1.0% 10.3%
Pre-meeting Report  DR 
Quality 11.4% 4.9% 1.4% 17.7%
Pledge  DR 0.3% 0 0.3%
Other Issues DR 7.9% 3.8% 1.0% 12.7%
Total % 66.6 26.2 7.2 100

There were 532 DR’s in 2016/17, with the majority being resolved at level at Level 1 and 2.

A small number were escalated to Level 3 but none were so intractable that the dispute 
progressed higher. The majority of DR’s were rooted in a lack of completing Pre-Meeting 
Reports within the required timeframe. Further areas for resolution were the Care 
Plan/Pathway Plan processes, usually around the timeliness of their preparation but also in 
some cases about the quality of the content.

Page 63



Social work performance and practice

55.9%
55.6%

55.6%
55.3%

54.0%

54
.4% 54

.9
%

51.8%

50.5%

49.2%

50.2%

51.5%

56.5%
56.2%

56.2%
55.8%

54.4% 54.8%

55.3%
52.5%

51.3%

51.8%

53.6%

55.5%

Apr-1
6

May
-16

Jun-16
Jul-1

6

Aug-1
6

Se
p-16

Oct-
16

Nov-1
6

Dec-1
6

Jan
-17

Fe
b-17

Mar-
17

46%

47%

48%

49%

50%

51%

52%

53%

54%

55%

56%

57%

Kent inc. UASC

Kent exc. UASC

Apr 16 - Mar 
17

CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same Social Worker for 12 months (Inc. 
UASC)

Impact of staff turnover:

The turnover of social workers has decreased since January 2017.  Repeated changes 
of social worker impacts on the willingness of the young person to engage with 
successive social workers. We acknowledge the efforts made to recruit and retain staff 
and recognise the difficulties. Nevertheless it is the IRO Service’s role to promote an 
optimum service to all of our young people in line with national requirements.

Late Notifications of care entry:

A late notification is defined as 2 or more working days after the child has come in to 
care. A delay in the IRO service being notified promptly, delays an IRO being appointed 
and makes it harder to ensure that the initial review takes place on time. In 2016/17 there 
were 75 late notifications, a significant improvement on the 120 of the previous year.

Performance:

IROs Quality Assurance Grading of CIC Care Plans: 

Good or Better – 69.3% - 3760 out of 5426.  This is an increase of 7.5% for the 2015/16 
period.

Requiring Improvement to Good- 25.3% - 1373 out of 5426. This is a decrease of 1.3% for 
the 2015/16 period.

 Inadequate- 5.4% - 293 out of 5426. This is a decrease of 6.2% for the 2015/16 period.

Page 64



Care Plans:

The IRO Review QA process and Monthly Quality Assurance audits demonstrate that the 
quality of planning for Children in Care has improved in the last year in the Good 
category, but there is a need for IROs to drill down into these figures to assess whether 
there are issues around the administration of the LAC process which is preventing a 
better performance profile or whether there is a lack of real engagement with and 
aspiration for young people within care planning. Care planning rated as inadequate has 
decreased. 

Ap
r-

16

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Ju
l-1

6

Au
g-

16

Se
p-

16

O
ct

-1
6

N
ov

-1
6

De
c-

16

Ja
n-

17

Fe
b-

17
M

ar
-1

7

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Inadequate or below
Good or above

Grading of Care Plans April 16 - March 17

Care Plan been shared with the child/young person and are their views recorded:

84.2%87.4%
2015/16
2016/17

Has the Care Plan been shared with the child/young person and are 
their views recorded?

2016/17 saw an increase of 3.2% of Care Plans which were shared with the child/young 
person and their views recorded when compared to 2015/16.

Page 65



Care Plan / PWP implemented within child/young person’s timeframe:

81.3%89.0%
2015/16
2016/17

Is the Care Plan/PWP being implemented within the child/yp's 
timeframe?

2016/17 saw an increase of 7.7% of Care Plan/PWP being implemented within the 
child/young person’s timeframe when compared to 2015/16.

Child Focused Practice:

77.0% 78.8%

3.2%

11.6%

2015/16 2016/17
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

Good or better
Inadequate

QA Grading of Child Focussed Practice

2016/7 saw a slight increase of 1.8% of Child Focussed Practice being graded as Good or 
Better when compared to 2015/6 and also saw an increase (8.4%) of inadequate grading.

Change of Review dates 

This process requires the agreement of the area Assistant Director and the AD for 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance to ensure that reviews do not change without good 
reason and that reviews are held within the required time scale.

Page 66



Practice considered to be ‘good’:

There is an overall reduction in delay and drift including the review of children subject to 
Section: 20 care arrangements

Good communication and liaison between district teams and IROs including timely alerting of 
the IRO to significant changes in most districts has been achieved and sustained.

Clearer efforts are being made to family find for children with a plan for adoption including 
Foster to Adopt and early identification for babies, often matching at approval or with existing 
sibling adopters. 

Timeliness in reviewing whether adoption continues to be a feasible plan or needs to be 
changed to long term fostering 

Evidence of the Signs of Safety approach being used in casework including direct work tools 
with children and IROs using this framework when considering progress being made by 
children/young people who are Looked After.

Areas which require sustained improvement: 

Life story work for children in permanent placements needs to be undertaken consistently.

Life story books need to be well progressed before children are presented to adoption  
matching panel.

Sibling assessments need to be completed and inform care planning for sibling groups who 
come in to the care system.

Pre Meeting Reports are not regularly being provided 3 working days before the review 
meeting takes place and some do not provide a comprehensive update and analysis.

The distribution of review minutes are not consistently circulated in a timely way to 
participants.

The availability and use of interpreters needs to be consistent. 

Timeliness of age assessments continues to be a challenge. 

Timely access to legal advice and linking this to permanency planning meetings needs to be 
imbedded. 

Limited access to education particularly for older UASC young people, and health 
assessments remains a concern and efforts made by VSK to support the education of young 
people who are not in mainstream education will need to continue..

Stability Core Group meetings and Adolescent Risk Management meetings are being used, 
however Disruption meetings need to take place more consistently.

Recent improvements achieved in supporting the smooth transition of young people as they 
move towards independent living needs to be sustained.

Page 67



What children and young people told us during the past year:

The Child in Care Survey and Participation Report has given insight into what young people 
feel about their care experience. Taking findings from Quarters 1/2/3 & 4 this is what children 
and young people said.

 41% of young people in care felt happy most of the time, but a significant proportion of 
young people who responded in Consultations also said they were 
Sad/Worried/Angry/Confused.  The IRO explores with young people whether they have 
concerns which need to be addressed within their review meeting.  

 78% of young people who responded felt that they see their social worker at the right 
frequency but around 15% of young people do not feel that they see enough of their 
social workers. 

 83% of young people were aware of the Complaints process. 61% were aware of “Our 
Young People’s Council” and 56% were aware of the Kent Pledge. 

 Children and young people will continue to be encouraged and supported by IROs and 
social workers to take an active part in their reviews, including the number of children 
who chair all or part of their Review. 

“Always supported me 
through tough times and 
nice times.”

“I know what my care plan is and it's 
been very helpful.”

“Great help and 
support throughout 
my time in care.”“They helped me 

when I needed 
support.”

“They did their 
jobs beyond the 
book they 
followed.”

“She listened to what 
I had to say.” “My IRO has 

helped my 
case to move 
on.”

Page 68



 Children and young people consultation booklets are now available in 5 different 
languages to cater for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children we work with. 

Conclusion:

The IRO Service has had a busy year, particularly in light of monitoring the care plans for the  
UASC cohort. Excluding UASC, the number of children who have entered or left the care 
system has remained relatively stable and the Council has continued to invest in the Service 
through the regrade of IROs and through improved admin support. Caseloads have been 
maintained at around 70 per Full Time IRO .

IROs are monitoring the care plans of children and young people who have complex care 
needs. IROs have focussed on meeting with children whose placements are unstable 
between review meetings and maintained a high level of input with the professional network 
around vulnerable children who are experiencing placement instability.  IRO oversight of 
care plans has increased with midway reviews/IRO oversight now formally recorded and 
monitored. The Service remains aspirational in this respect, seeing it as a crucial aspect of 
the IRO role, and one that can provide real added value to the relationship with children and 
young people and a consistent adult for them. 

Achieving placement stability for children and young people in care will need to remain a 
priority for the IRO service. It is therefore pleasing to note that the practice of holding 
permanency planning meetings at the outset of children entering the care system and 
reviewing progress made towards securing permanency is now embedded in social work 
practice. IROs have and will continue to contribute to permanency planning meetings and 
will be challenging the fostering service and professional networks around young people to 
strengthen placement stability for children and young people who have complex care needs.

The IRO service has strengthened the challenge function of the role over the last year 
through the Dispute Resolution Process to address delay and drift for children in care. 
Constructive challenge is an expectation identified in the IRO Handbook and an element of 
the service which Ofsted will expect to see evidence of during their Inspections.  We 
recognise that Dispute Resolution will continue to be a challenge in how it is received and 
acted upon by operational colleagues and the IRO Service will retain objectivity in order to 
be part of the solution.

IROs are mindful that young people need to be carefully supported when they make the 
transition to adulthood. This process starts long before the young persons’ 18th birthday.  
IROs therefore monitor carefully progress made towards achieving goals set out in the 
young person’s pathway plan and encourage social workers to liaise with the leaving care 
service so as to plan for a smooth transition. IROs also ensure that young people 
understand their entitlements and care leaver’s status.

The Service must focus on setting the consistent standards expected across the County and 
holding areas accountable for them if it is to continue to be taken seriously. The IRO service 
in 2016/17 will need to continue raising its profile as the link between the child, their parents 
and carers and the local authority, and promote the continuity that improves placement 
stability and the provision of the most relevant support

Page 69



Knowing the wishes and feelings of our children and young people and helping them to 
participate fully in their review has to remain a priority. Going forward the IRO with the social 
worker needs to encourage many more young people to actively chair their reviews. The 
Service needs to gather the views of foster carers, other providers of care to our young 
people and the views of parents in particular on how well the Council is fulfilling its 
responsibilities, but also to act as the co-ordinator of the support network that will assist 
young people to achieve their goals and aspirations into the future. 

There are likely to be many challenges in the coming year which will require the IRO Service 
to continue to focus on the quality of provision to children and young people, improvements, 
both within the offer to children in care but also on how it fulfils its roles and to continue to 
ensure the child remains at the centre of all of our processes.

As a service we are mindful of our safeguarding responsibilities for children in care who are 
vulnerable to sexual exploitation, substance misuse, missing episodes and disengaging from 
education and training. We will continue to monitor Return Interviews, Adolescent Risk 
Management Meetings and Care Plans closely and to include actions which build safety and 
stability for children and young people. There is growing need to be vigilant to the emotional 
needs of young people, particularly in respect of vulnerable adolescents but also our UASC 
young people who we know little about or how they may have been affected by possible 
trauma in their past.

The use of the signs of safety model as a framework to review how well children and young 
people are doing in care and identify areas of concern which need to be addressed is now 
embedded in Child in Care process with children and young people fully included in 
discussions around how concern can and may be addressed and resolved.

The IRO Service notes the ongoing hard work and commitment of social workers and other 
professionals, particularly the Virtual School Kent in supporting young people who are 
looked after.  Despite some inevitable tensions the quality of the relationship with Children’s 
Social Care in particular remains a strength.

Targets for 2017/2018

IROs to continue:

Working collaboratively with social work teams, fostering service and partners in education 
and health to strengthen placements so as to ensure that placement stability is achieved for 
all children and young people who enter the care system. 

Highlighting, sharing and promoting aspirational, good social work practice in care planning 
ensuring good outcomes for children/young people

Supporting efforts made by social work teams and the Leaving Care service to support the 
successful transition of young people as they move towards living independently.

Page 70



Highlighting need for life story books to be completed for and life story work to be 
undertaken with children placed with adoptive families or remaining placed in long term 
foster care.

Sustaining consistent oversight and monitoring of care plans, challenging drift of delay in 
achieving permanence for children and young people. 

Actively promoting and supporting improved methods of consulting with children and young 
people in between reviews and particularly ensuring they understand the purpose of care 
planning and their involvement in the process. The Implementation of the MOMO app for 
interactive use by children and young people in care will therefore be supported and 
encouraged by IROs.

Encouraging young people to be supported by their social workers and carers to chair their 
own reviews.

 
Reviewing and promoting the Participation and Consultation process with parents and 
carers.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 – ADOPTION SERVICE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary: This annual report outlines the structure and the work of the Adoption 
Service during 2016-2017. 

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the range of services 
provided and their suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their families in order 
to provide an ‘Outstanding’ service.

1. Introduction

1.1 Kent County Council is committed to ensuring that children are able to remain in 
the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible.  However, where it 
is not possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth family, Specialist 
Children’s Services work to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the 
child within a family setting and these include adoption.

1.2 The Annual Report for 2016/2017 (Attached as Appendix 1) provides details of 
the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection (March 2017) as well as detailed 
analysis of the performance of Kent’s Adoption Service in relation to children’s 
and adopters adoption journeys between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 in 
line with the National Minimum Standards and Statutory Guidance.  It describes 
the nature and use of the vast range of support that is available to adopted 
children and their adoptive parents beyond the granting of the adoption order.  It 
also suggests the direction of travel in respect of the plans to progress the 
government’s vision of Regional Adoption Agencies.

1.3 The Annual Report for 2015/2016 demonstrated an improvement in the 
performance in relation to both ‘the Child’s Journey’ and ‘the Adopters’ Journey’ 
during that year.  The current report demonstrates continued improvements in 
performance during the last financial year despite a fall in the number of 
Adoption Orders granted.

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



2. Conclusions

2.1 The service is very pleased with the outcome of the Ofsted Inspection and it is 
now striving to be ‘Outstanding’.  A business plan has been drafted for the 
coming year to consolidate the areas of good practice noted and to further 
develop the service.

3. Recommendation

3.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the range of 
services provided and their suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their 
families in order to provide an ‘Outstanding’ service.

5. Background Documents

Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services full report 
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/kent

6. Contact Details

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 74

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/kent
mailto:Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Kent Adoption Service
Annual Report 

April 2016 - March 2017

Page 75



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Contents 

Section 1:   Overview

Section 2:   Ofsted Inspection Findings 2017

Section 3:   Adoption Service

Section 4:   The Child’s Journey – Data summary

Section 5:   The Adopters Journey – Data Summary

Section 6:   Disruptions 

Section 7:   Commissioned Services

Section 8:   Compliments, Feedback and Complaints  

Section 9:   Regionalisation

Section 10: Conclusion

Page 76



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

3

Section 1: Overview
Purpose and Objectives of the Kent County Council (KCC) Adoption 
Service

The work of Kent County Council’s Adoption Service is governed by the Adoption & 
Children Act 2002, the Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013 and the 
Adoption National Minimum Standards (Care Standards Act 2000).  KCC is committed to 
ensuring that children are able to remain in the care of their parents and birth families 
wherever possible. However, where it is not possible to achieve stability for the child within 
the birth family, we work to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the child within 
a family setting and these include adoption.   

The purpose of the Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet the 
needs of children who have been or may become adopted, birth families, and adoptive 
parents.  This will include services in relation to those ‘looked after’ children with an 
adoption plan, and also in relation to the non-agency adoption service.

In order to achieve its aims the Adoption Service will:-

 Ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are at the centre of 
the adoption process.

 Welcome those people, who are interested in becoming adoptive parents without 
prejudice, respond to them promptly and provide them with clear information about 
recruitment, assessment and approval.

 Ensure that services are provided to all involved in adoption that recognises the 
lifelong implications of adoption.

 Assess and prepare prospective adopters who can offer children a stable and 
permanent home.

 Provide help and support to achieve a successful and lasting placement. 
 Monitor children through the process to minimise delay.

All those involved in adoption will be treated fairly, openly and with respect throughout the 
adoption process.

This report provides details of the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection (March 2017), 
plus detailed analysis of the performance of Kent’s Adoption Service in relation to children’s 
and adopters adoption journeys between 1 April 2016 and 31st March 2017 in line with the 
National Minimum Standards and Statutory Guidance.  The report includes information 
about post adoption support, non-agency adoptions; inter country adoptions, work with birth 
parents and adoptive parents and the work of the Panels team for this time period. It 
provides feedback received from adopters.

Page 77



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Section 2: Ofsted Inspection Findings 2017
Ofsted rated Kent County Councils’ Children’s Services as ‘good’ following the inspection 
that they carried out in March 2017.  Within the Ofsted inspection, Adoption is inspected and 
rated in its own right. Adoption was rated ‘GOOD’. The full report can be accessed here.

Comments from the inspection report relating to adoption with relevant page numbers:

 Children who need to be adopted benefit from timely decision-making and effective 
planning. Good assessment, training and support is available for prospective 
adopters. Children enjoy stability and thrive in their adoptive families. (Page 15)

 The large majority of children live with their brothers and sisters, benefiting from 
stable local placements, with access to a wide range of educational, social and 
recreational opportunities. Comprehensive assessments inform   decision-making 
regarding whether children should be placed with their brothers and sisters. A helpful 
in-house supervised contact service ensures that children are able to maintain 
regular contact with family members. (Page 18)

 For those children coming in to care in the last 12 months they have achieved timely 
adoptive placements and adoption orders.  The head of the adoption service, 
supported by experienced managers and teams, scrutinises all performance and 
drives improvements effectively. (Page 19)

 Children are well prepared for adoption. Child permanence reports are thorough, 
focus on the child and inform their plans well. Adopters report positively about how 
well they are informed about children and prepared for introductions. Wherever 
possible, birth parents are involved in meeting prospective adopters and supporting 
their child's plan. A number of adopters noted that their child had recognised them 
when they arrived for a first visit, which demonstrates the effectiveness of how well 
prepared children are to meet them. (Page 19)

 Children have colourful and individual life-story books and direct work to help them 
understand their history. Adopters receive helpful training to support their child's 
ongoing life-story work. Children receive informative and sensitively written later-life 
letters to help them make sense of their identity and history when they are older. 
(Page 20)

 The local authority has made steady progress since 2012 in reducing the time it 
takes for children to be matched with, and move to live with, their adoptive families. 
The local authority's data demonstrates that performance continues to improve, with 
a reducing number of children waiting to be linked with families or to be placed for 
adoption. (Page 20)

 Children benefit from timely adoption orders once they are placed and make good 
progress in their adoptive families. Adopters are very positive about their experiences 
of contacting the service. They consistently told inspectors that they had received 
clear information and prompt responses to enquiries, and that the quality of the 
training prepared them well. Prospective adopter assessments are thorough; reports 
are analytical and  child-centred, with clear rationales for supporting the 
recommendations to approve prospective adopters. A number of adopters had 

Page 78

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/kent


                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

5

already successfully adopted with Kent. This demonstrates their confidence in the 
experience they will have in adopting their second or third child. The local authority 
has a well- promoted policy for fostering to adopt and this has successfully supported 
children to form early attachments and not experience further moves when adoption 
becomes the plan. The capacity to offer fostering-to-adopt placements continues to 
Increase, with six carers due to be considered for dual approval at adoption panel at 
the time of Inspection.(Page 20)

 The adoption panels provide effective scrutiny, focus on children and test information 
to carefully consider their recommendations for approving adopters and matching 
children. The panel quality assures all presenting information and regularly reports to 
the agency its findings on the quality of practice. This has supported improvements, 
for example in the quality of prospective adopter reports. The agency decision 
makers (ADMs) make timely decisions, and challenge on the rare occasions that 
information is insufficient. The ADMs meet regularly with panel chairs and undertake 
appraisals to maintain oversight and accountability. Panel members receive regular 
appraisals and comprehensive training to ensure that their contributions are informed 
by current practice and developments in the service. (Page 20)

 The local authority works closely with two neighbouring local authorities to ensure 
that a wider resource of potential adopters can be considered for the needs of 
children. At the time of inspection there were 14 Kent adopters approved and waiting 
for a link. The local authority utilises all local, regional and national events to link 
adopters and children. (Page 20)

 If no matches can be identified at an early point, the local authority promptly refers to 
the adoption register and adoption link. (Page 20)

 The quality of post-adoption support is excellent. There is an effective and innovative 
range of options and services provided by a multi-disciplinary team under partnership 
arrangements. The support offered is flexible, and options include group workshops, 
training, specific and tailored support groups for adults and children, mentoring of 
newly approved adopters, and individual and family therapeutic interventions. There 
is creative and very successful use of the adoption support fund to support adoptive 
families. The team members are intuitive and use their expertise well. The capacity of 
the team has recently been increased to ensure that it can provide the full scope of 
therapeutic assessments and interventions. Adopters are extremely positive about 
the post-adoption support they and their children receive. For example, one adopter 
described the support as ‘phenomenal, so pertinent to what we need’. (Page 21)

Page 79



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Section 3: Adoption Service
Kent Adoption Service is led by a Head of Service and has five Teams. It is structured as 
follows: (Appendix A)

 Two Recruitment & Assessment Teams 

 Family Finding Team

 Adoption Panel Management and Quality Assurance Team

 Post Adoption Support Team – working in Partnership with Coram

Recruitment & Assessment Team (R&A) and Non-Agency Adoptions

In 2012 the government outlined an Action Plan that set out its proposals for tackling delay 
in the adoption system. One of those actions was to radically speed up the adopter 
assessment process so that two months are spent in training and information gathering – a 
pre-qualification phase – followed by four months of full assessment. They introduced a 
“fast-track” process for those who have adopted before or who are foster carers wanting to 
adopt a child in their care:

There are two Recruitment & Assessment Teams in the adoption service which has the 
equivalent of ten full time social workers.  The adoption social worker undertaking the initial 
visit remains responsible for the case in stage one. This stage is overseen by one of the 
Recruitment & Assessment Managers and one administration officer supports the social 
worker in issuing and progressing checks and references. There are weekly tracking 
meetings to ensure that each case is progressed in a timely manner and difficulties are 
resolved promptly. The applicants are invited to attend a 3 day preparation course during 
stage one and there is the expectation that they complete self-assessment forms as well as 
e-learning. Stage one is adopter led although the aim is that it takes no longer than two 
months unless there is good reason for this. The Managers also identify cases that can be 
progressed more quickly especially if applicants are highly motivated, experienced etc.

Most prospective adopters who enter stage two retain the same social worker to offer 
continuity. They are invited to attend a two day preparation course during this stage; one of 
the days is facilitated by a therapist with emphasis on attachment and therapeutic parenting. 
This day has been very well received by prospective adopters. Each case is carefully 
tracked and progressed through supervision as well as monthly tracking meetings to ensure 
that there is a timely progression as well as quality assurance. 

Page 80



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

7

K ent A d opt ion S ervic e
Getting it right for children

The two-stage process

Pre-stage 1
(10 days)

Stage 1
(2 months)

ROI 
approval 
(5 days)

Stage 2
(4 months)

You are
here

There can be a break of
up to six months 

between Stage 1 and 2

You can take a break 
before Stage 1

Recruitment Strategy 

In March 2015 the recruitment of adopters was put on hold because of the number of 
existing approved adopters and the fall in the number of children being granted a Placement 
Order. The Adoption Service started recruiting again from March 2016. The focus of the 
recruitment work during April to June 2016 was to complete initial visits to enable applicants 
to go through stage one (2 months) in preparation of stage two (4 months); this inevitably 
led to first time adopters being approved in from October onwards. This had an impact on 
the number of adopters approved during the year 2016/17. 

Whilst there is a consistent flow of interest from people enquiring about adopting, there is a 
focus in the service on recruiting adopters willing and able to consider adopting children 
aged 3 years of age and older, siblings and children with disabilities/complex needs. This is 
clearly outlined in our literature, on the adoption service website and during adoption 
information events. 

During 2016/17 the service focused on its recruitment; which has led to several 
developments; all of which will be progressed during 2017/18. These include:

 Development of a comprehensive recruitment strategy 
 Re-branding of adoption leaflets 
 Continual development of the adoption service website
 Development of the use of social media, including the creation of a Facebook Page 

for 2017/18.
 Bespoke/targeted advertising – the Adoption Service delivered bespoke recruitment 

and advertised outside of Kent to recruit adopters to meet the needs of complex 
children, which included The Metro and London Evening Standard.  A recruitment 
campaign is in progress for 2017/18 including a press release, a bespoke information 

Page 81



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

event for prospective adopters who might be interested in finding out more about 
adopting siblings or children with complex needs and plans for a radio interview with 
approved adopters of siblings to take place.

 Responsive service – it is vital that a responsive and efficient service is provided to 
potential adopters. An Enquiries Adviser post is therefore established to ensure this 
is achieved.  

 Monthly information events - advertised on the Kent Adoption and First4Adoption 
websites; members of the public are able to attend without booking a place. The 
attendees interested in taking their interest in adoption further are able to book a 
home visit at the event to explore their interest and suitability further. There is always 
at least one experienced adopter in attendance at the events who shares his/her 
experience of adoption; this is a very popular part of the presentation. 

Non-Agency assessments – This refers to adoption assessments involving families whose 
children are not in the care of the Local authority such as Step Parent adoption. During 
2016/17 the Non- Agency Team which was previously a separate team transferred under 
the Management of the two Recruitment & Assessment Team Managers. This resulted in 
saving costs but also a more streamlined service that mirrors that of the agency adoption 
process. As with agency adoption assessments the progress of each case is monitored 
through supervision and monthly tracking meetings. There is a transition to a two phase 
process so that all references and checks are completed in phase one to identify whether 
there are reasons that the adoption order is unlikely to be granted. 

Fostering to Adopt Scheme 

A key aim of all those involved in securing permanence for children is to place children in 
their potentially permanent placement at the earliest possible stage. ’Foster to Adopt’ is 
used for babies and children who are in local authority care where the plan is likely to be 
adoption, but who still have a chance of being reunited with their birth family. The majority of 
children go on to be adopted.  Foster to Adopt protects children from experiencing multiple 
moves within the care system. It provides children with good quality, uninterrupted and 
consistent care whilst detailed assessments of their birth family are completed and the 
Court decides on the plan for the child. Consistent care for the child reduces possible future 
harm and it supports the child in developing healthy attachments.  Babies and children are 
placed with approved adopters who have been assessed and approved as temporary foster 
carers for the child. 

The Foster to Adopt carers provide the day to day care for the child and work with the 
child’s social worker to ensure that the child has all of their needs met.  At the same time, 
the child’s social worker will continue working with and assessing the child’s birth parents to 
see if they have made the changes needed to have the child returned to their care. The 
Court will make the final decision on the plan for the child. If the decision is that the child 
should be adopted then Foster to Adopt carers can go to an adoption matching panel and if 
panel agree, will become the adopters for the child. Alternatively, if the Court decides that 
the child should be returned to their birth family then the child is returned.    

Page 82



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

9

To date there have been 20 Foster to Adopt placements made in Kent, 18 using Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 25A (2010) and two through 
the Dual Approval Panel which became functional in January 2017. Kent Adoption Service 
attends a Foster to Adopt Steering group attended by other stakeholders which is chaired 
by Coram. Kent provides additional training for prospective carers within the stage two 
assessment process and holds a monthly support group for Foster to Adopt carers. The 
service provides training for social workers across Kent and has raised awareness with 
partner agencies including health, social care, CAFCASS and as stated above the judiciary.

Family Finding

The Adoption Service works in partnership with district teams to promote early permanency 
for children; it advocates the benefits of this to achieve the best possible outcomes for 
children. Within the Adoption Service there is a Family Finding Team which consists of one 
team manager, 8 senior practitioners/social workers and one administrator. Social workers 
from within the Family Finding Team are invited to attend Permanency Planning Meetings 
(PPMs) across Kent to offer guidance on such matters as sibling assessments, post 
adoption contact options, life story and identity needs, achievable plans, current Kent 
adopters, along with guidance on the Adoption process.  This has been successful and 
there has been an increased demand for Family Finding to attend these meetings, 
consequently, resources creatively redirected in 2016/17 to develop a Permanency 
Planning Lead (senior practitioner) who ensures there is appropriate Family Finding 
attendance at PPMs. Family Finding social workers have a central role in supporting 
relinquishing birth parents and case holding the children. 

The Family Finding team has increased links with the Independent Reviewing Service to 
further consider how to jointly improve timeliness and tracking across Kent.  Similarly, the 
links between Children with Disabilities (CWD), Fostering and Family Finding have 
continued to strengthen. Active consideration is given to how children with disabilities can 
have their needs for permanence met and ensure that adoption is always considered as an 
option. The CWD team continues to engage in preparation groups for adopters in order to 
encourage interest in children with disabilities. The group also plan more joint interface 
training workshops to take place during 2017. 

The continued focus of robust tracking systems across Kent supports the early identification 
of children for whom the plan is likely to be adoption. This in turn creates early identification 
of matches and has reduced the time taken for children moving to their adoptive placement 
following a placement order.  The Head of Adoption works in partnership with the Children 
in Care Service Managers and reviews the process and tracking to ensure that the decision 
making is robust and the Adoption Service is impacting on permanency planning meetings 
to reduce delay and speedily progress plans for adoption.  Robust tracking takes place from 
the point a decision is made by an Agency Decision Maker (ADM) that adoption is the care 
plan for a child. Where children are at home through proceedings there is consideration 
given to whether (if a Placement Order is granted by the court), the child can move directly 
into adoptive placements where assessment considers this is an appropriate match.  

There continues to be a close working relationship between the Recruitment Assessment 
Team and the Family Finding team in the matching process. There are weekly linking 

Page 83



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

meetings, chaired by the Head of Adoption and attended by the three managers from the 
two teams. Every approved adopter and those being assessed in stage two (unless they 
have expressed a preference to wait until after approval) are considered for the children 
identified as needing adoptive parents. Possible links are followed up by the Family Finding 
and Recruitment & Assessment social workers with a sense of urgency to avoid delay.  
Approved adopters and those in stage two are regularly sent profiles of children so that they 
can self-select and express an interest. This is in addition to being invited to profiling events 
and having the possibility of arranging a meeting with a Family Finding social worker. There 
is an emphasis on making sure that all Recruitment & Assessment and Family Finding 
social workers have a good awareness of the families and children coming through the 
adoption process as early as possible.

Adoption Panel Team 

The panel team establishment comprised of one full time Team Manager/Agency Adviser 
and one Panel Adviser and 3 administrative staff during 2016/17.   There are four panels 
established including one Dual Panel, which considers assessments of prospective 
adopters who wish to be considered as Foster to Adopt carers as well as adopters. A fourth 
panel was introduced in 2016/17 in order to respond in a timely way to ensure adopter 
assessments and ‘matches’ for children with adopters were considered in a timely way.

Panel composition - The panel members, including the social worker members employed by 
Kent County Council (KCC) are selected on the basis of their capacity to work cooperatively 
with each other and professionals within the Adoption and wider Children in Care Services.  
Their performance is monitored through annual appraisals. Although there is no longer a 
requirement or limit to the number of independent members that should be in an adoption 
panel, the majority of the members of the Kent Adoption Panels are independent. The 
current membership of the Central List is 35, including Kent Social Work members. 
Together they have a combined pool of professional and personal knowledge, experience 
and skills as adopters and adoptees including background in adoption and fostering work.

Agency Panel Advisers quality assure and provide advice on all cases being presented at 
panel and then subsequently to the Agency Decision Maker (ADM), plus on all requests for 
ADM’s to agree children’s adoption plans. This is regarded as a high priority; performed in a 
timely, thorough manner and is evidenced in writing.  Two six monthly reports are produced 
by the Independent Panel Chairs and these are shared with the Agency Decision Makers 
and the Director of Specialist Children’s Services These include a quality assurance and 
scrutiny role of the cases presented. The reports identify issues including the quality of 
adopter’s assessments, child permanency reports, progress on life story work, birth 
relatives’ support and the voice of the child. This feedback from the Panels has been used 
to improve services and practice.  

Communication - The Agency Decision Makers, Head of Adoption, Agency Advisers, 
Medical Advisers, Panel Chairs have regular meetings to review service delivery and 
discuss issues arising. 

Page 84



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

11

Post Adoption and SGO Services

For four years, until January 2016, Coram managed the Kent Adoption Service. The Coram 
vision for the multi-disciplinary Post Adoption Support Team (PAST) model practised in 
Kent, developed since 2014, was based on recognition that adopters and adopted children 
require timely skilled clinical and social work expertise in-house. The approach was 
developed in conjunction with adopters and the Tavistock and Portman NHS Trust. Coram 
has produced a paper for the Consortium of Voluntary Adoption Agencies VAA outlining the 
model, how it works, its potential effectiveness and how it can be replicated. It is an 
ambitious model and continues to develop. It consists of a Clinical Lead appointed through 
the Tavistock and a Social Work Team Manager. The team has 3 therapists, (family, child 
and adolescent and adult therapist) 1 systemic therapy practitioner, (0.8), (a second is being 
recruited), and 1 music therapist (0.6) and 2 experienced social workers.  

The model of post adoption support has been expanded to include an SGO support work 
stream and the vision will be developed further in the coming year. Currently, there is one 
Senior Social worker who provides an advice and consultation service to social workers and 
‘drop in clinics’ to support with ASF applications and she provides advice with support plans 
for children who are the subject of care proceedings. The post holder signposts enquirers to 
Kent’s extensive early help services that are available when appropriate and she is 
developing links with these services and other teams.

Post Adoption Support Offer
The PAST provides a range of services to adopted children and their families including:

 Provision of information, advice and guidance to adopters and professionals through 
the advice line.

 Consultation, Assessment and intervention to adopters and their families through 
initial telephone or face to face consultation, brief therapeutic intervention (up to 6 
sessions) and therapeutic life story work.

 Intensive family interventions to bring a deeper understanding of children and young 
people’s state of mind, mental health and wellbeing; and to support adoptive parents 
in parenting their children to bring about their social and emotional development.

 Group and workshop programme including:

 Incredible Years Parenting programme for adopters with children under 9 years. The 
partnership has delivered four Incredible Years Parenting Programmes.

 STOP parenting programme for adopters with adolescents - first delivery of the 
STOP programme took place in December 2016/January 2017 and a second started 
in March 2017.  PAST social workers and clinicians continue to be trained to deliver 
future programmes and a mixed delivery will continue depending on the 
need/programme.

 The development of a Parenting Programme (on-going) specifically geared for 
adoptive parents with autistic children was piloted in March 2017 led by a PAST 

Page 85



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

clinician and a Kent educational representative. It is an attachment based course so 
it benefits from a clinician. 

 Intensive Adoptive Parent Support Groups (ongoing) - 2 Groups, one in East Kent 
and one in West Kent, facilitated by clinical staff, each running for 8 weeks for 2 
hours.   

 Learning and Development workshop programme for adopters, and their families – 
(Rolling programme running from September to the following July each year). 
Includes topics such as explaining adoption, ‘Who’s in charge’, Transitions, Social 
media, siblings and parenting adolescents. The full programme is available via the 
website: http://www.kentadoption.co.uk/support-after-youve-adopted/post-adoption-support-
team

 Supporting education - Education conference held on 7th October 2016 attended by 
adopters, Senior Managers, social workers, teachers and educational 
representatives focusing on educational issues for adopted children and the support 
needed.  Out of this will be developed 2.5 hour seminars for schools provided by a 
clinician and an adopter focussing on attachment for adopted children and links with 
behaviour and emotional needs. The first one was held in February. Links are also to 
be strengthened with Virtual School Kent and there were two jointly led education 
workshops delivered to adopters on 11th March 2017 and 1st April 2017.

 Information workshop for adopters and young people to promote employability – an 
initial workshop was held in March 2017 and this work stream is progressing.

 Adopter mentoring scheme - to support adopters in early placement. Learning is 
being incorporated into the continuous development of the scheme. 

 Young people’s participation group - Strengthening adopted children and young 
people’s voices, developed by a family therapist and senior social worker from PAST, 
in conjunction with Coram ‘Adoptables’, who have trained three ambassadors, been 
involved in running theatre workshops and have presented to Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group.

 Advisory Board - Strengthening the voice of adoptive parents. This group has Terms 
of Reference and quarterly meetings are chaired by the PAST Team Manager.  It 
serves as an advisor and critical friend to the service. Members of the group have 
assisted in a variety of ways including presenting at the education conference, the 
development of the PAST leaflet, development & implementation of the mentoring 
scheme and participation on staff interview panels.

Page 86

http://www.kentadoption.co.uk/support-after-youve-adopted/post-adoption-support-team
http://www.kentadoption.co.uk/support-after-youve-adopted/post-adoption-support-team


                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

13

Section 4: - The Childs Journey - Adoption Data 

Indicator 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-17

ADM Best Interest Decisions 179 93 111 118

Children Placed 170 143 89 84

Placement Orders 164 79 90 92

Matches Approved 172 145 84 89

Adoption Orders Granted 145 182 108 80

ADM Best Interest Decisions

Between 1 April 2016 and 31st March 2017 the Agency Decision Maker agreed the plan for 
adoption for 118 children, 6% more than in the same period last year (111).

National data produced by the Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) indicates that nationally 
the number of ADM decisions increased slightly from 4,310 in 2014/15 to 4,750 in 2015/16.  
ADM decisions remained lower than in previous years and were 42% lower in quarter 1 of 
2016/17 than in quarter 2 of 2013/14.

Children Placed for Adoption

Between 1 April 2016 and 31st March 2017, 84 children were placed with an adoptive family, 
6% fewer children than in the same period in 2015/16 (89 children).  29 of the children were 
placed outside Kent.

Of the 80 Adoption Orders granted only 33 were placed in this 12 month period, with the 
others placed in previous years.

Placement Orders

92 Placement Orders were granted in 2016/17 which was two more than in 2015/16.  11 of 
the children granted placement orders in 2016/17 were aged 5 or older.

Adoption Leadership Board national data shows that placement orders increased slightly 
from 3,590 in 2014/15 to 3,840 in 2015/16, but that they remained 43% lower than in 
2013/14.  There were 890 placement orders granted in the first quarter of 2016/17.

Matches Approved

Between 1 April 2016 and 31st March 2017, 89 children were matched with an adoptive 
family, 6% more children than in the same period in 2015/16 (84 children). 

Page 87



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Children with a Plan that has Changed Away from Adoption

Between 1 April 2016 and 31st March 2017, 20 children’s plans were changed from 
adoption, which was one less than in 2015/16 (21 children). 
Adoption Leadership Board national data indicates that 31% of decisions reversed in 
2015/16 were as a result of the court not making a placement order (32% in the first quarter 
of 2016/17).  There has been a reduction in the number of plans changed because adopters 
could not be found.

Adoption Orders Granted

3,470
4,010

5,050
5,360

4,690

430 540 690 740 660

70 105 145 180 110

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

England South East Kent

Children Adopted per year national 
comparisons (rounded to nearest 5)

70

105

145

180

110

80

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0

40

80

120

160

200

240

Children Adopted per year in Kent

Source: SFR Local Authority Table LAE1 available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-
including-adoption-2015-to-2016

80 Adoption Orders were granted in Kent in 2016/17, which was a 35% decrease on the 
108 granted in 2015/16.  This included 4 relinquished babies (no placement orders) in each 
year.

The national picture has also seen a decline in adoptions.  There were 4,690 adoptions in 
2015/16, which was a 12% decrease from 2014/15.  The Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) 
states there has also been a reduction in the number of children awaiting adoption.  There 
were ‘2,000 children waiting at 30 June 2016’, which was ‘a 10% decrease from 31 March 
2016 when there were 2,210 children waiting with a placement order not yet placed with an 
adoptive family.’1

Kent has consistently been amongst the highest local authorities in terms of 
adoptions numbers, with 108 adoptions in 2015/16, which was second only to 

1 Adoption Leadership Board (2017). Adoption Leadership Board headline measures and business intelligence: Quarter 1 
2016 to 2017 Update. Online, available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584616/ALB_Business_Intelligence_Q
uarter_1_2016_to_2017.pdf (accessed 05-Jun-2017).

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584616/ALB_Business_Intelligence_Quarter_1_2016_to_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584616/ALB_Business_Intelligence_Quarter_1_2016_to_2017.pdf


                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

15

Lancashire.2

England

South East

Kent

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
England 13% 14% 17% 17% 15%
South East 11% 14% 17% 18% 14%
Kent 8% 12% 17% 21% 10%

Percentage of children ceasing to be looked after adopted

Source: Department for Education (2016), Statistical First Release.  Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016 
(accessed 22/05/2017)

In 2015/16 Kent was below national and South East averages in terms of the percentage of 
children adopted.  Kent’s percentage of children ceasing to be looked after who were 
adopted is impacted by significant numbers of unaccompanied asylum seeking children.  In 
2015/16 the percentage of children leaving care who were adopted rises from 10% to 16% 
when UASC are excluded from the calculation.  This would place Kent higher than the 
England and South East averages for the year.

In 2016/17, the percentage of children leaving care who were adopted was 12.8% 
(excluding UASC).

Children Placed Who Are Not Yet Adopted

On 31st March 2017, 55 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted (52 at the 
same time last year).  The majority of children had been placed less than 6 months (43 
children, 78%), 7 children had been placed between 6 and 12 months, and 5 children had 
been placed for more than 12 months.

Children Waiting at the End of March 2016

2 Department for Education (2016). Statistical First Release Local Authority Tables. Online, available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016 
(accessed 05-Jun-2017)

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016


  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

As of 31st March 2017 there were 31 children with a placement order who had not yet been 
matched; 21 boys and 10 girls.

23 of these children (74%) had at least 1 hard to place factor, and 6 of the children had 
more than 1 hard to place factor.

The group included 5 children aged 5 or over, 5 children from black or minority ethnic 
backgrounds, 12 children being considered as part of a sibling group and 1 child with a 
disability.

At the time of writing this report (25th May 2017) 13 children had been subsequently 
matched or had a matching panel booked.  This included 2 sibling groups of 2.

For the children not yet matched 5 children had been linked to adopters, 11 children had 
active family finding taking place (3 sibling groups of 2 children, and 5 single children), 2 
children had family finding put on hold awaiting appeal (consisting of one sibling group).

Children without a Placement Order

As at 31st March 2017 there were 28 children on an interim care order with an agency 
decision for adoption but no Placement Order.

Timescales and improvements

Timescale Indicator 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 Distance from target 
2016/17 (days)

Became Looked After to Initiation of Adoption 
Planning (children with an initiation in year) 165.8 142.1 129.7 +8.7

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency 
Decision (children with ADM in year) 33.7 37.3 30.2 -25.8

Agency Decision to Matching Panel (children 
matched in year) 316.0 153.4 178.6 -4.4

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
(children matched in year) 248.4 91.0 117.8 -3.2

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
(children adopted in year) 208.4 218.3 113.5 -7.5

Became Looked After to Placed for Adoption 
(children placed in year) 550.2 358.7 333.1 -92.9

Became Looked After to Placed for Adoption 
(children adopted in year) 533.3 485.7 351.4 -74.6

Page 90



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

17

2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0

50

100

150

200

Kent avg. Target

BLA to Initiation of Plan

D
ay

s

2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0

20

40

60

80

Kent avg. Target

Initiation of plan to Agency Decision

D
ay

s

2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0

100

200

300

400

Kent avg. Target

Agency Decision to Matching Panel

D
ay

s

2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Kent avg. (Placed) Kent avg. (Adopted)
Target

Became Looked After to Placed

D
ay

s

2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
0

100

200

300

Kent avg. (Matched) Kent avg. (Adopted)
Target

Placement Order to Matching Decision

D
ay

s

Became Looked After to Initiation of Adoption Planning

The target time between a child becoming looked after to the adoption plan being initiated is 
121 days (4 months).  For children with a plan initiated in the year, Kent’s performance on 
this measure has seen steady improvement, and in 2016/17 Kent’s average of 129.7 days 
narrowly missed the 121 day target.

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency Decision

The target time from the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM Best Interest decision is 
56 days (8 weeks).  Kent’s performance on this measure has remained below the 56 day 
target in each of the last 3 years, and was 30.2 days in 2016/17.

83.1% of children with an agency decision in the year had a period of less than 8 weeks 
from the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM Best Interest decision.

Page 91



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Agency Decision to Matching Panel

The panel should consider a match with an adoptive family within 183 days (6 months) of 
the Best Interest decision being made.  Kent’s average time increased to 178.6 days in 
2016/17.  There are a variety of reasons for this which includes contested court 
proceedings, parental appeals following the granting of a Placement Order and delays in 
family finding due to the needs of the child/sibling group.  Despite the increase, Kent 
remained below the 183 day target on this measure.

62.9% of children with a matching decision in the year had a period of less than 6 months 
from the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM BI.

Placement Order to Matching Decision

The target time from the Local Authority receiving court authority to place a child for 
adoption (PO) to the approval of a match with an adoptive family for children adopted is 121 
days (4 months).  In 2016/17 Kent’s figure reduced to 113.5 days, which surpassed the 121 
day target.

Children are not always matched in the same year as they are adopted, therefore the time 
taken historically to place children impacts upon this measure.   For children matched in 
2016/17, the average time between placement order and match was 117.8 days.  This also 
surpassed the 121 day DfE threshold.

Of the children matched in 2016/17, 40 had at least 1 hard to place factor, with 4 children 
having more than 1 hard to place factor.  30 children were matched as part of a sibling 
group, 9 of the children matched were aged 5+, 4 were from black and minority ethnic 
backgrounds and one child was disabled. 

Adoption Leadership Board data shows that nationally there was no reduction in timescale 
for this measure.  8 months was the average timescale in 2014/15, 2015/16 and in the first 
quarter of 2016/17.

Page 92



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

19

Became Looked After to Placed for Adoption

The current DfE threshold for children becoming looked after to placement is 426 days (14 
months).  In 2016/17 Kent surpassed this target for children adopted in the year, with an 
average of 351.4 days.

Children are not always placed in the same year as they are adopted.  Timescales for 
children placed in the year provides a more accurate indication of current performance.  
Using this measure, Kent has also shown continuous improvement from 550 days in 
2014/15 and 359 days in 2015/16 to 333.1 days in 2016/17.

Adoption Leadership Board  data shows that nationally there was no reduction in timescale 
for this measure between 2014/15 and 2015/16, remaining at an average of 18 months.  
The first quarter of 2016/17 suggests there was a slight improvement to 17 months.

Placed to Adoption Order Granted

It is the responsibility of the Adoptive parents to apply for the Adoption Order.  Therefore the 
performance timescales of Adoptive Agencies end at the time the child is placed.  The 
average time from the child being placed to the adoption order granted in 2016/17 was 249 
days.  This was slightly higher than in 2015/16 when it was 220 days. 

The adoption service is closely monitoring the timeliness of the submission of adoption 
applications to reduce delay and provide support where necessary. There is an expectation 
that the social workers prepare the court application early so that it can be submitted after 
the child has been placed for ten weeks, which is the legal timescale for applications to be 
made. If this is not felt to be appropriate the reasons will be discussed in the child’s Looked 
after Review and if necessary support will be provided. 

Page 93



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Section 5: - The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data 

Adopter Activity

Adopter activity 2016/17 Number of families

Enquiries in 2016/17 261

Stage 1 starts in 2016/17 90

Stage 2 starts in 2016/17 74

Stage 2 ends in 2016/17 50

Adoptive families matched in 2016/17 54

Adoptive families with placements in 2016/17 53

Adoptive families with adoption orders in 2016/17 68

Approval timescales

23 of the 50 adoptive families approved in 2016/17 were fast tracked (foster carers and 
repeat adopters).

7 of the 27 adoptive families who were not fast tracked were approved within 6 months of 
registration (29.5%).

40 of the 50 (80%) adoptive families were approved within the 4 month timescale. 

Average timescales for newly approved adopters in the 2 stage adopter 
recruitment process (excluding fast tracks) 

 
2016/17

Enquiry to Stage 1 Start (days) 106

Stage 1 Start to Stage 1 End (days) 50
Stage 1 End to Stage 2 Start (days) 36
Stage 2 Starts to Stage 2 End (days) 106

Stage 1 Start to Stage 2 End (days) 193
Enquiry to Stage 2 End (days) 299

Source: ALB return 2016/17

Page 94



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

21

The average time between enquiry and stage 1 start was 106 days for Kent.

The target duration for stage 1 is 2 months.  2016/17 figures indicate that Kent was within 
this timescale with an average of 50 days.

Prospective Adopters can take a break of up to 6 months between stages 1 and 2.  Kent’s 
figures for 2016/17 show that the average time between stage 1 ending and stage 2 starting 
was 36 days.

The target duration for stage 2 is 4 months.  Kent’s year to date figures indicate that Kent 
was within this target, with an average of 106 days (3.5 months).

The total time between stage 1 start and stage 2 end was 193 days.  The total time from 
enquiry to stage 2 completions in Kent was 299 days.

Adopter gap

The latest data on the Adopter gap indicates that Kent had more Adopters waiting for a 
match than children with a placement order waiting to be matched.  There were 36 children 
with a Placement Order waiting to be matched and 45 adoptive families waiting (adopter 
gap of -9 or -25%).

ALB data indicates that nationally the adopter gap had closed in 2015/16 and there were 
more adoptive families than children waiting.  The number of adopters approved fell by 31% 
between 2014/15 and 2015/16 (decreases of 34% for LAs and 17% for VAAs).  This 
increased slightly by 1% in the first quarter of 2016/17.

Post Adoption Information Events

Learning and Development Programme

15/16 16/17Title
attendees households attendees households

adolescence and identity 24 18
apprenticeship event 25 9
ASF seminar 9 8
becoming a family through adoption 19 6
CAFIS on contact 13 12 21 17
explaining adoption 60 45
impact of neglect 12 10 10 7
managing contact with birth families 7 7
managing transitions 20 18 17 11
non-verbal communication 28 23 29 24
sibling rivalry 25 20 8 8
social and emotional development 27 21 37 33

Page 95



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

Impact of social media 45 42
Talking with children and life story book 38 33
Thinking about adoption 16 8 17 10
Supporting education - Virtual school 21 20
Who’s in charge? p1 15 11 38 35
Who’s in charge? p2 15 11 38 35
Total 255 197 379 305

Intensive Therapeutic Parent Support Groups

Six intensive therapeutic parent support groups were facilitated in 2015/16 and a further 
three in 2016/17, with a total of 54 attendees across the two years (plus an additional 11 in 
early 2015).

Incredible Years
Four incredible years’ programmes have been run in total; two in 2015/16 and the same 
number in 2016/17. These had 48 attendees from 24 families. 

STOP
The STOP parenting adolescents programme is now on its second cycle, with a total of 22 
attendees in 2016/17

Autistic Parenting Programme
The partnership is also running an autistic parenting programme that was attended by 12 
people but for some sessions this fell to nine attendees after one couple withdrew due to 
serious sudden ill health.

Parties
Two parties were held in 2016/17. 162 (82 adopters and 82 children) people attended the 
Summer Party on 10th July 2016 and 245 people (120 adopters and 125 children) attended 
the Christmas party on 4th December 2016. These are regarded as being an excellent 
opportunity for adopted children and adoptive parents to meet others who have similar 
experiences and they facilitate informal support networks. 

Post Adoption Support

In 2016/17, Kent adoption service received 241 requests for post adoption support.  
Following assessment, 162 of these requests resulted in the provision of support and 4 
assessments were still being carried out at 31st March. The remainder were signposted to 
other more appropriate sources of support or their request was resolved within the initial 
consultation.

Kent adoption service provided post adoption support to 410 families during the year, 85 of 
which were funded by Kent and 325 funded by another route (such as the Adoption Support 
Fund).

Page 96



                   Adoption Service     Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
                                      Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING 

23

Section 6: Disruptions 
From the 84 children placed during 2016/17; one placement disrupted in March 2017 after 
the child was placed for two months. The plan for this child is now long term fostering. 

Learning from these placement breakdowns is shared at operational meetings with 
colleagues in the social care teams and within the adoption service. The information and 
analysis is also discussed at the Adoption Panels that recommended approval of the match 
for the child with the adopters.

Section 7: Commissioned Services

Coram remains in a contracted partnership with Kent and have been commissioned to help 
further develop Post Adoption Support Team and it’s the multi-disciplinary model in 
2017/18. The team developed between Kent and Coram focuses on timely assessments 
and interventions undertaken primarily ‘in house’  unless the children and their family reside 
outside of the Kent area and therefore a more localised service is required or if their 
requirements cannot be met within the PAST. 

Kent adoption service commissions through a contract Barnardo’s (CAFIS: Connecting 
Adoptive Families Independent Services) for Independent Adoption and SGO Support 
Services.  This includes a range of services covering: independent support for birth parents; 
contact both direct and letterbox; access to birth records and intermediary services for adult 
adoptees.

Section 8: Compliments, Feedback and Complaints
The majority of concerns or issues raised in relation to the service provided by the Adoption 
Service are resolved through a problem-solving approach within the service and the service 
aims to respond quickly and with sensitivity. If however, concerns remain unresolved Kent 
County Council has a comprehensive Complaints Procedure.  During 2016-17 the Adoption 
Service received three formal complaints at Stage 1. The last complaint received was in 
July 2016.  The Adoption Service values the views of those it is providing a service to and 
their feedback is used to inform service delivery and design. There are several forums for 
receiving feedback which include: 

 Adopters views at the time they attend the adoption panel for approval and a match
 The views of others who attend the adoption panel including social workers from 

Kent and other adoption agencies if placing the child via inter-agency route Adopters 
views after they have adopted An ‘after adoption’ feedback form is sent to each 
family after the adoption order is granted.

 Panel members attending panel training
 Adopters attending the preparation training
 Adopters attending the Post Adoption Support Team Learning & Development 

training.

Page 97



  Adoption Service       Annual Report    April 2016 to March 2017
 Getting it right for children

KCC CORPORATE PARENTING  REVISED 

A detailed report produced by Coram specifically focusing on feedback received in relation 
to services provided by the Post Adoption support Team is attached (Appendix B).

Section 9: Regionalisation 
Regionalisation Agenda

In June 2015 the government published a paper setting out proposals to move to regional 
adoption agencies. It stated the government believed they will help: speed up matching and 
markedly improve the life chances of neglected and damaged children; improve adopter 
recruitment and adoption support; and reduce costs. The paper stated the government’s 
intention that by the end of this Parliament, all local authorities would be part of regional 
agencies. Since the policy was introduced there has been a general election and changes 
within the government, but the policy remains unchanged. Whilst there was some initial start 
up funding for those local authorities/adoption agencies wishing to proceed in 2016, there is 
currently no government funding being offered for 2017/18 to assist local 
authorities/adoption agencies yet to formalise their regional adoption agency.

Kent is working with London Borough of Bexley & Medway Local Authorities in a Regional 
Adoption Agency model. All three Local Authorities presented to their respective Cabinet 
Committees in September 2016 and there has been agreement for the RAA progression.  
An Executive Board has been established under which sits an Operational Board to ensure 
progression to closer partnership working with a view to forming a Regional Adoption 
Agency.

Section 10: Conclusion

The annual report for 2016/17 demonstrated an improvement in the performance in relation 
to both ‘the child’s Journey’ and ‘the Adopters Journey’ during that year.  The current report 
demonstrates continued improvements in performance during the last financial year despite 
a fall in the number of Adoption Orders granted. The service is very pleased with the 
outcome of the Ofsted Inspection and it is now striving to be ‘Outstanding’. A business plan 
has been drafted for the coming year to consolidate the areas of good practice noted and to 
further develop the service.

Sarah Skinner
Head of Adoption
Kent Adoption Service
June 2017

Page 98



Kent (Centralised) Adoption Service
Specialist Children’s Services
15/06/2017

Family Finding
Team Manager Team 

Manager
Nina Gurung 1 FTE KR12

 KR12 

Post Adoption Service
Team Manager 

Sarah Jones 0.65 FTE 
(Agency)

Recruitment and 
Assessment & Non-

Agency Team Manager
Maria Olsson 1 FTE KR12

Position vacant

Caroline Mill 1 FTE
Business Support Officer

Head of Adoption  1FTE
Sarah Skinner

Recruitment and 
Assessment & Non-

Agency Team Manager
Amy Coombs 0.8 FTE 

KR12

Senior Practitioners 
KR11

Lynne King (LT Sick)
Pat Knight

Karen Salt 0.6
Vacant post 1 FTE 

 (4.6 FTE)

Social Workers KR9/10
Caroline Underwood

 Jilly McLellan
Celia McNicholas

(3 FTE)

Business Support
Administrator KR5
Pauline Mortimer 

(1 FTE)

Senior Practitioners 
KR11

Katie Boyce
Mary Clark 0.80

Patricia Ruck
Susan Wilson
Sarah Pollock 

(4.8 FTE)

Social Workers 
KR9/10

Saffron Allnut 0.6
Samantha Bennett 

Abigail Lapthorn
(3 FTE)

Business support 
Administrator KR5

Vacant

Coram Clinical Lead and 
Therapists

Ana Draper 0.60
Adam Goren 0.90

Simone Lincoln 0.60
Rebecca Jones 1 FTE

Nicola Singleton 1FTE
Louise Butler 0.80

(4.90 FTE)

Social Workers KR10
Eloise Creed 0.8

Senior Practitioner KR11
 Clare Marks 0.8

(1.6 FTE)

Administrator KR5
Oliver Martin

1 FTE

Business Support 
Administrator KR5 x 2

Vacant

Social Workers KR9/10
Nancy Platt 

Beatrice Jakubinyi  0.8
Hollie Sherman

Sharon Gunson (leaving 
15.06.17)

Georgina Hardy
 (4.8 FTE)

Senior Practitioner 
KR11

Sylvia Green 
Caroline Fisher 0.6

Julie Gibbs
(2.6 FTE)

(1FTE)

IET Advisor KR6
Laura Kennard 0.40

Vacant post Recruited to 
0.60

 (1 FTE)

Vacancies 
Non-Agency Team Manager – not advertised 1FTE
Panel Advisor – Recruited to starts 18/06/2017
R&A SW advertised 1 FTE
IEA – Recruited to  0.6 FTE  (starts 26/06/2017)
TOTAL = 2.6 FTE

Panels Team
Team Manager 

Vacant Post

Panels Adviser  KR11
 Melanie Newell 1 FTE

Fiona Quinn 0.6

Business Support 
Administrators KR5

Fiona Cinnamond
Petula Cotterell

Sebastian Wildish
(3 FTE)

SGO Senior Practitioner 
KR11

Hannah Daugherty – (1FTE) 

Appendix A

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Yashi Shah, Dr Jeff Mesie, Hannah Lawrence, Uzma Peeran and Arun Emilion

Coram Kent Post Adoption 
Support Service: feedback 
from adopters

March 2017

Page 101



Coram Kent Post Adoption Support Service: feedback from adopters

Contents

Coram Kent Post Adoption Support Service: feedback from adopters ...................................................................

Coram Kent Post Adoption Support Service: feedback from adopters .................................................................2

1.  Introduction ..................................................................................................................................................3

2. Learning and Development Workshops .....................................................................................................3

3. Intensive therapeutic parenting support groups .........................................................................................7

4. Incredible Years Parenting Programme .....................................................................................................8

5. STOP Parenting Programme for Adolescents .........................................................................................11

6. Parent Satisfaction Questionnaire............................................................................................................12

Satisfaction..................................................................................................................................................12

Impact ......................................................................................................................................................... 13

7. Education Conference..............................................................................................................................14

8. Mentoring Scheme ...................................................................................................................................14

9. Adopters’ voices: Adoption Advisory Board .............................................................................................15

10.  Adopted children and young people’s voices...........................................................................................15

11.  Social events............................................................................................................................................15

12. Conclusion............................................................................................................................................16

Page 102



1.  Introduction
The Coram Kent post adoption support team has always had an active commitment to obtaining feedback from 
adoptive parents and adopted children and translating this into ts service improvements and innovation. This 
report draws upon the current feedback mechanisms and summarises the results.

Feedback is provided through the completion of feedback forms from participants in a varied set of parenting 
programmes, group support, learning and development workshops as well as through satisfaction 
questionnaires when service delivery ends.

In addition to these systems we also draw upon other mechanisms. The children and young people’s 
participation group, the Adoption Advisory Board and other service delivery mechanisms (adoption summit, 
mentoring scheme) are invited to provide feedback and suggestions to the agency in relation to practice, policy 
and innovative ways of delivering services. A selection of this feedback is included in this report.

2. Learning and Development Workshops
Three hundred and twenty-seven adopters provided feedback about learning and development workshops that 
they had attended between December 2014 and December 2016. Titles and formats changed over time and 
the workshops covered:

 Adolescent and identity in adoption
 Extended family 
 Life Story Books
 Managing Transitions
 Neglect & Trauma
 Non Verbal communication 
 Siblings
 Social and emotional development
 Social Media
 Talking about adoption 
 Relating to difference in adoptive families 
 Who's in charge part 1 
 Who's In Charge part 2 

‘Who’s in charge’ (a session exploring control issues) received the most feedback with 75 responses to the 
questionnaire (although for a time this event operated in two parts with the same adopters, so the number of 
people who responded may be slightly lower than 75).

Page 103



Figure 1: Number of responses

75

54

40
35

29

20
17 16 14

10 9 8

Who's In Charge Soc & emot developmentLife Story SiblingsTransitionsExtended family Social MediaTalking about adopt'n Non verbalDifferenceNeglect & TraumaAdolescents

Overall adopters benefitted from the workshops and had a very positive experience.  

All but one adopter found the workshops they attended useful and 91% (n=296) found the seminars ‘very 
useful’. Adopters were asked what aspect of the training they found most helpful. Comments included: 

“listening to other peoples experiences, learning how to adjust way you think about situations that may arise”

“helped to think about the bonding between birth son and adoptive son. how this can be facilitated”

“ideas and theories about behaviour, attachment, grief, resilience and transitions”

“understanding what neglect and trauma has as an effect on children and what they mean.”

 “knowing my struggles are not unique, reassurance i am going in the right direction” 

“excellent structure that allowed natural free flow debates and conversations.”

 “discussions around different aspects of social media and listening to others, discussion about contact.”

The information was presented and taught in a clear way, 97% (n=318) thought the content was ‘very clear’. 
No adopters thought the information was unclear.  Comments included:

“[facilitator] was approachable and talked sensibly giving both negative and positive sides”

“succinct, made sure everything was understood”

“ideas and theories were explained in a concise way”

“I liked it when the facilitator linked it to personal experiences”

“good presentation but a little bit  theoretical”

“liked the mix of theory and role play”.

Page 104



A hundred and twenty-one (37%) of the adopters left comments about how the workshops could be improved. 
Sixty two per cent of those that commented (n=75) wanted the sessions to be longer. Twenty-nine suggested 
practical improvements eg the room being difficult to find or a desire for handouts to be available at the start 
and 10 wanted to be taught more strategies about parenting adopted children or wanted more time and 
specific teaching about certain topics, for example on attachment. 

Three adopters (one from taking about adoption, one from adolescence and identity and one from who's in 
charge) suggested that the facilitation of the sessions could have been better, particularly with managing more 
dominant members of the group. Two adopters wished that the session had come at a different point in their 
adoption journey (one from social and emotional development, one from the siblings group) . 

The vast majority (95%, n=311), of adopters felt more confident to respond to the needs of their child as a 
result of the sessions. Adopters commented: 

“[I have an] increased awareness of the ongoing support around resilience.”

“[I] will try relinquishing control on certain tasks.”

“[I] feel much better equipped.”

“I am less worried about the impact of my daughter searching for her birth mother”

“lots of practical advice- have already seen huge improvements in my child’s behaviour.”

“some new ideas to try”

“given me confidence to continue with my style of parenting along with useful tips and guidance”

“slightly more confident – let’s see if that works in the real world”.

All respondents thought the thinking about adoption as a family, life story books and emotional development 
sessions were very good (see figure 2 below).

Page 105



Figure 2: percentage of participants who found session 'very useful' by session type

100% 100% 98% 95% 94% 93% 90% 89% 88% 86% 83%

50%

Life StoryNon VerbalSoc & Em developmentExtended family About AdoptionTransitionsDifferenceNeglect & TraumaSocial MediaSiblingsWho's in chargeAdolescents

The rest rated the workshops as ‘somewhat useful’ apart form one person who thought that the siblings 
workshop was ‘not useful’ to their situation because she had a teenage son and a five year old so the games 
were not relevant. 

There were only eight forms received from adolescence and identity workshop participants. Half of them 
scored the workshop as ‘somewhat useful’. The suggested areas for improvement were to have longer session 
an one thought that it was difficult to manage the group dynamic and that more time was needed to do this and 
to manage extreme cases.

Page 106



3. Intensive therapeutic parenting support groups 
Adoptive parents also supplied observations about the Intensive therapeutic parenting support groups. We 
have data from three samples from adoptive parents that used different forms to provide feedback.

Sample 1

All of the six parents that completed the feedback form in March 2016 thought that the group was ‘very useful’ 
and ‘very clear’ and said that they felt more confident in responding to the needs of their child. A commonly-
cited value of the group was meeting fellow adopters and exploring shared problems and strategies.

Sample 2

Of these 11 adoptive parents who completed a feedback form in March 2016, three parents thought that they 
understood their child ‘very well’ and eight said that they understood their child ‘moderately well’.  

However one of the parents still felt that their child’s behaviour concerned them ‘a great deal’.  Two parents felt 
very confident/ competent as an adoptive parent, seven said that they felt ‘moderately confident/ competent’, 
while two remained ‘not very confident/ competent’

Six out of the11 said that their child felt ‘very happy’ and the others described their child as ‘moderately happy’ 
- both at home and at school. Three said that they felt very well supported as adoptive parents in the 
community and six felt ‘moderately supported’.

Sample 3

More detailed feedback was obtained from a different cohort of 11 households at the end of their programme. 
This form asked about progress in more depth. Fifty-five percent (6) described themselves as ‘very satisfied’. 
Two (18%) said that they were ‘very unsatisfied with the group overall, however all of the responses from these 
two respondents were very positive or positive so it is likely that it is a miscoding by the respondents. 

All respondents agreed (36%) or strongly agreed (64%) that “the group helped me better understand my child”; 
while 73% agreed or strongly agreed that the group helped them “to be less concerned about my child's 
behaviour”. All but one (91%) agreed or strongly agreed that the group made them “better able to interact with 

“Lots of practical advice … have 
already seen huge improvements in 
my child’s behaviour”

e improvements in my child’s 
behaviour”

“Please more groups, weekly, 
monthly, bimonthly!”

more groups, weekly, monthly, 
bimonthly!”

Page 107



my child”. The same proportion said that the group made them be more confident/ competent as an adopter 
and feel better supported.

Figure 3: Benefits from Intensive therapeutic parenting support groups (from the more detailed sample 3 
feedback)

underst
an

d m
y c

hild

be bette
r a

ble to
 in

terac
t

feel b
ette

r s
upporte

d

be m
ore 

co
nfid

ent/c
ompetent

 le
ss 

co
nce

rned ab
out  

behav
iour

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Strongly agree
Agree

%

All participants said that they would recommend the group to a fellow adopter.

4. Incredible Years Parenting Programme
To date Kent has run three programmes’, we only received data relating to the most recent of these.

We received feedback forms from fourteen people who attended at least one of the twelve Incredible Years 
Parenting Programme sessions that ran from 10th September 2016 to 3rd December 2016. On average eleven 

“I didn’t fully know what to expect until 
the initial interview but I can say that all 
expectations have been exceeded”

Page 108



participants completed a feedback form for each session (in some session there were 8 forms and for others 
there were 14. Participants were overwhelming positive about the content and delivery of all the sessions, over 
90% felt that the content to be ‘helpful’ or ‘very helpful’. Interestingly, participants appeared to be less satisfied 
with the video examples used the sessions, only 65% found this technique ‘helpful’ or ‘very helpful’; 11% were 
undecided about the usefulness of the video examples (see figure 3).

Figure 4: Percentage attitudes towards content and delivery of sessions

95%

65%

99%

1% 4%
11%

1%

I found the content of the 
session 

I feel the videotapes 
examples were 

I feel the group leader's 
faciliation was 

Helpful Not helpful Neutral

Results showed that participants reported very high levels of satisfaction with the content and delivery of the 
sessions from the start of the programme, nonetheless participants continued to be impressed during the 
course of the programme by reporting even higher levels of satisfaction at the end of the last session than they 
did at the start. 

At the start of the programme (end of session one) all participants found the content of the sessions helpful, 
64% reported that content was ‘very helpful’ and 36% thought it was ‘helpful’. When the programme finished 
(end of session twelve), results showed a bigger proportion of parents reported to find the content of the 
sessions ‘very helpful’ compared to the start, 82% vs 64%. This was also true for the participant’s views on 
group leader’s facilitation and group discussions. Although all participants found this useful from the start of the 
programme, parents were more satisfied by the end of the programme than the start; 73% said it was ‘very 
helpful’ and 27% ‘helpful’ after session one. This compares to 82% finding it ‘very helpful’ and 18% ‘helpful’ at 
the end of session twelve.

Participants were more divided about the usefulness of the video examples used in the sessions and whether 
they were appropriate for all the twelve sessions. When video examples were introduced (session two) 
participants were generally very pleased, 80% found the examples either ‘helpful’ or ‘very helpful’ and by 
session seven all participants considered them to be ‘very helpful’. However beyond session seven participants 
appeared to be less happy with the video sessions, at the end of programme (session twelve), only half of 
participants considered the videos to be ‘very helpful’ the other half thought they were neither helpful nor 
unhelpful. 

Among the parents who left additional comments about the programme, nearly half commented on the benefits 
of having other families present and sharing experiences: 

“Great [to know] that we are not on our own and others are going through the same”

“Really nice to hear other people in the same boat and that we're all hoping to work on similar issues together”

Page 109



“Always great to hear how the other parents have dealt with situations and what has or hasn’t worked”

“Sharing ideas of reward charts and reward grab bags was really useful”

Other noted how the strategies covered in the session had helped adapt their parenting skills: 

 “We changed our reward system months ago and made an emotions chart as all of Darren's behaviour is 
clearly due to his emotional regulation and this works very well”

“The activity really helped me to think about and process which behaviours to ignore and which to react to”

“Made me remember it’s important to give them something to do in time out, to distract themselves and to be 
able to start to regulate themselves next time”

Some parents provided suggestions on how the programme can be improved or made available at a different 
point in the adoption journey: 

“sessions could be longer “

“it was more useful this week feeding back on our own experience of special play”

“Videos were almost irrelevant as we we'd covered ideas so thoroughly during discussion”

 “I feel it would be nice to have examples of consequences as we find it difficult to determine at what level to 
act them”

“A similar course would be helpful for parents in the adoption process before it has gone through” [ie pre-
approval].

Page 110



5. STOP Parenting Programme for Adolescents
This first pilot ten week programme ran from September to December 2016. Ten adoptive parents attended the 
programme and we have feedback forms from nine of these individuals as one of the fathers was not present 
at the final evaluation session. In future such individuals should be followed up with an emailed questionnaire. 

The feedback from the sessions was extremely positive

Half of the adopters found the content presented ‘useful’ while the other half found the content ‘very useful’. On 
the timing of the course a third  felt the course came “a bit late” in the adoption process for them, while three 
quarters felt it came at the right time. It is noteworthy that only 64% felt the role play during the sessions was 
‘useful’ or ‘very useful’; 22% felt neutral about the effectiveness of role playing in the group.  

For the weekly reading materials and hand outs, the feedback was much more positive as with 88% reporting 
the hand outs as ‘useful’ and the rest as ‘very useful’. 

The participants were equally impressed with the various group leaders. A total of  78% felt that the group 
leader’s preparation was excellent for each session.  The group leaders were all scored positively in the 
categories of preparation, facilitation and general effectiveness.  In each session at least five participants rated 
the group leader as ‘excellent’. 

Most (78%) respondents ‘felt confident’ or ‘very confident’ in forming a bond with their adopted child following 
attendance at the group.

Figure 5: Confidence in bonding/forming an attachment with your adopted child

Very unconfident unconfident Slightly 
unconfident 

slightly confident confident Very confident
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

The behavioural techniques which were introduced in the groups were positively received. Everyone attending 
the group felt at least slightly confident to very confident in dealing with future behavioural problems after the 
sessions. No-one stated that they did not feel confident 

Page 111



Three quarters of respondents would ‘strongly recommend’ the programme to another adoptive parent 
although half mentioned that the travel was too far and it was difficult to get to the venue.  

Almost half of the adopters left additional comments about the programme, as follows:

“it was nice to be with people who have the same issues”

“meeting parents in similar situations and listen to how they have dealt with it.”

“the course was a truly a lifeline and came just in time”

“the feeling of support and understanding from everyone” 

“a good ten weeks, great people.”

“I get the “I” statement now and like using the positive language”.

Some adopters provided suggestions on how the future programme could be improved:

“to spend more time on specific issues and more depth”

“more time”

“a bit more time for free group discussions” 

“more time to expand on peoples personal experiences”

“some people dominated at times, possibly control this a little more”

“listening to how the other parents are copying and to what they had put in place”.

6. Parent Satisfaction Questionnaire
Satisfaction questionnaires were not administered at the time that service delivery ended. As a result Kent has 
sought feedback retrospectively from 50 adoptive households. 

The new process is that the administrator will send out a satisfaction questionnaire at the point at which a case 
is closed.

Seven feedback forms were received retrospectively from adopters who had accessed a range of services 
provided by Kent for example group support, brief intervention, single session- individual/family consultation, 
learning and development workshops.  Results showed that all adopters were very happy with the service and 
recognized its value for adopters:

“After 10 years of no help this service has been a lifeline – finally there is acknowledgement that adopted 
children have specialised issues and needs and that adopters need help and support to deal with this”

“I have seen a vast improvement in the service over the past 3 years, keep up the good work”

This analysis will be updated as more data is obtained.

Satisfaction

71% (5) of respondents were ‘very satisfied’ with the service they had received and 29% (2) were ‘mostly 
satisfied’. Respondents were also extremely positive with the quality of the services, 71 % (5) felt the services 
were ‘excellent’ and 29% (2) felt the quality was ‘good’. In addition, all respondents were happy to recommend 
these services to someone who required similar help. 86% (6) reported they would definitely recommend these 
services and one respondent (14%) thought they would be likely to recommend these services to someone 
who needs them. 

Page 112



Impact

All respondents believed that the support they received had helped them manage their relationship with their 
child. Most indicated that the support helped ‘somewhat’ (71%, 5) and two felt that the support helped ‘a great 
deal’ (29%, 2). Four respondents described how they have noticed changes in their own and child’s behaviour 
since receiving support. Four out of the five recognized that they were able to cope with their emotions better: 

“It's made me much more mindful of my responses to behaviours and situations so that I try to be less 
confrontational and speak in a more measured tone. I also listen a lot more”

“Dad is a little more patient and I believe more work could have been done but our situation has changed” 

One respondent described how they have noticed a change in their behaviour to help in developing a trusting 
behaviour:

“thankful he [child] was given the opportunity to decide for himself and that we trust each other on their 
decisions”.

One respondent felt the programme they received (in this case the family therapeutic intervention) provided 
them with more insight into their child’s behaviour and an opportunity to reflect on their own actions.

“Although we feel we are tuned in our child’s sometimes challenging behaviour, the support helped us to view it 
from a different angle. Gave us more insight to respond in different ways, it also gave us the opportunity to talk 
through situations and reflect on how they could have been more effectively handled.” 

“We now reflect a lot more on how situations can be handled and try to think ahead to avoid flashpoints”

Respondents also offered their thoughts to why they believed the support they had received had been helpful.  
Three respondents noted that the structure and content of the services received had been effective: 

“flexible sessions [allowed] all the family to attend…no pressure to discuss things we felt needed to be 
discussed”

“up to date factual info at l&d events. single session individual consultation…to explore issues and identify 
needs” 

“received appointments in a good time frame, workshops are relevant and cover a range of topics”

“Speaking to people who understood the situation you were in and who could give relevant advice and 
strategies to help”

One recipient of the family therapeutic intervention felt that the programme had improved their knowledge 
about their child’s behaviour and another appreciated having someone outside of the system to speak to: 

 “We have a deeper understanding into our child’s feelings and this has helped to improve our relationship with 
him”  

“having a neutral person to talk to”.

Suggestions for improvement

Respondents made a few suggestions to how the service could be improved which predominately focused on 
the timing and structure. Two respondents would have preferred sessions to be offered out of office hours and 
more locally:

 Despite the fact that L&D workshops are held at weekends we received one comment that “Learning and 
development sessions are mostly at an inconvenient time for working people.” 

Page 113



“The service for us would definitely have been better had the sessions been more local as appointment was 3 
hours including travel.” 

7. Education Conference
A full day conference took place on the 7th of October. The conference was aimed at adopters, professionals, 
elected members and primary and secondary school representatives: 72 adopters, 27 school representatives 
and 30 professionals (included three elected members) attended. 

The conference was chaired by an adopter, with two adopters and adopted young people as speakers. 46 
people provided feedback. The feedback was positive  and the comments received included:

“so valuable, hopefully going forward our schools will automatically be adoption aware”

“It was essential to hear the Adoptables”

“Mind blowing information provided in the morning session, followed up by excellent speakers in the afternoon”

“A real excellent balance of professionals, adopters and organisations”

“I felt inspired by each speaker” 

“Conference was excellent - the content was so relevant and well-presented. It was really worthwhile to attend 
- felt I learnt a great deal. Plus fantastic to have an event of this kind focussed on such an important concern 
for adoptive families - has made me feel empowered to ask more questions of my daughter's school” 

“It was brilliant to hear parents and the Adoptables young people speak about their experience - incredible of 
them to share this and so good to hear positive outcomes, even if it has been a struggle to get there”. 

Improvements suggested were mainly in relation to better information about parking facilities and joining 
instructions and ensuring that follow up work was undertaken with schools. Some adopters were 
understandably disappointed that their children’s school did not attend. 

8. Mentoring Scheme
The purpose of the pilot scheme is to provide new adoptive parents with a mentor following a match being 
recommended at the matching meeting. The mentor provides peer support and practical advice from their own 
experience.

Training took place on the 23rd of September and 1st of October. An additional training session was provided 
for those mentors who were not able to attend the full or part of the two day training.

Feedback from the training included:

“really positive, well thought through, feel able to be confident in role”

“Very good and user friendly – good mix of theory and application to our roles as mentors – this project really 
has the capacity to make a difference to the lives of future adoptive parents and their children”

“Very easy to understand, presented in a good format”

“Very clear with good explanations of complicated subjects”

Mentors have contributed significantly to the continuous development of the scheme.

Page 114



9. Adopters’ voices: Adoption Advisory Board
The board continues to meet on a quarterly basis. The board consists of adopters as members who act as a 
critical friend in relation to continuous learning and service development. 

Examples of contributions to service development from the Board include: 

 an information leaflet for new adopters 
 an information leaflet for the team 
 an information leaflet for the advisory board
 supporting the education conference by taking on the chairing and speaking role
 Having adopters on adoption panels and interview panels to recruit staff in the post adoption support 

team
 adopters co-facilitating the Incredible Years Parenting Programme.

In the past, adopters have also met with Edward Timpson, Minister for Vulnerable Children and Families, 
Department for Education and the then Prime Minister, David Cameron in relation to adoption support fund and 
services for adopted children and young people.

10.  Adopted children and young people’s voices
A family therapist and a senior social worker have been working closely with Coram Adoptables. This is a local 
children and young people’s participation group for children aged 12 to 18. It started in September 2015 and is 
facilitated by the family therapist and senior social worker. Attendance has varied between 10 to 12 young 
people. The Coram Adoptables manager is promoting the Kent participation model with other local authorities 
as an “excellent” model based on best practice.

Examples of adopted children and young people’s participation and contribution to service development in 
included:

 being trained as Ambassadors by Coram Adoptables
 one of the ambassadors working as an apprenticeship in Coram – he contributed to the development of 

a school kit which was launched at the education conference – the same young person attended a 
parliamentary event to launch the school kit

 participation in a theatre production in London
 attendance at the corporate parenting panel to share the tool kit and share their adoption journey – 

please see appendix 1 for the information shared at the panel, including from adoptive parents (one of 
them attended the panel)

 contributing to the preparation group training and relevant learning and development workshops
 feedback in relation to the children’s guide

The participation of adopted children and young people has shaped service development and learning – for 
example, in relation to social media workshop and preparation group training. In addition, their feedback has 
led to setting up a group for younger children.

11.  Social events
170 adopters attended a summer party with their children, where a number of activities were provided, 
including face painting and a magic workshop. A Christmas party also took place on the 4th of December 2016 
which was attended by 120 adopters and 125 children. Twenty-five adopters and five children provided written 
feedback which included: 

Page 115



“It was nice that there were older children this year, our daughter made a new friend and enjoyed herself.”

“Thank you for a lovely party”

“My daughter had a lovely time. Thank you”

“Thank you for organising another Christmas party. My daughter had a great time. Slightly disappointed by 
Oakwood’s organisation of food and drinks. Not a patch on last year. Entertainers were great”.

Suggestions for improvements included: the quality of food and drinks, more food, activities for the older 
children, better organisation of the room space.

12.  Conclusion 
This report summarises feedback on a variety of different services provided by Coram Kent post adoption 
support. In addition, it also sets out adopters and adopted children’s contribution to service development. The 
team has demonstrated that it is listening to adopters and adopted children and young people, and working in 
partnership with both to develop innovative service delivery approaches.

It is apparent that the learning and development workshops are seen as practically very useful, clear and well-
managed. A key learning is that participants would like to sessions to be longer if possible. Intensive 
therapeutic parenting group equip participants to better understand and to better interact with their child. Some 
parents, perhaps appropriately retain come concern about their child’s behaviour. The incredible years session 
are experienced as helpful, although we may need to re-examine the videotape examples and make them 
more relevant. The STOP parenting programme for adolescents I seen as well facilitated and leave 
participants feeling relatively confident about bonding and managing future behaviour issues.

We have improved our systems for the administration of parent satisfaction questionnaires, but the return that 
we have indicated that the service received helped adopters to better manage their relationship with their child. 
We may need to look at making more services available outside of working hours (and to recognise that some 
people may work at weekends).

The practice in the team has been to make immediate improvements as appropriate following feedback, and 
use the key themes to develop other service programmes for example, implementation of the parenting 
programme for adolescents and for autistic children, education conference, attachment workshop for schools, 
a workshop to discuss choosing of schools and the use of pupil premium, development of an apprenticeship 
scheme, workshop on autism and attachment. It is essential with changes in personnel, the innovative 
developments are progressed quickly – for example, the education champion role.

Coram found it challenging to evaluate the feedback in a consistent way as different forms were used. The 
learning and development and intensive therapeutic parenting support group feedback forms have now both 
been revised. The administrator has been asked to delete all the previous forms and set up a robust system to 
log the feedback and chase facilitators if this is not made available quickly.

A system has also now been set up to ensure a satisfaction questionnaire is sent at the point the case is being 
closed, and a follow up reminder is sent twice. It is essential this system is adhered to and the individual 

Page 116



feedback evaluated immediately both by the team manager and the clinical lead. We would suggest that 
learning from feedback should be a regular agenda item for the team.

In addition, an outcomes framework which has now been implemented will allow the evaluation to be 
measured in relation to the different stages of the therapeutic intervention.

As expected under the adoption national minimum standards, the service user feedback should be uploaded 
on the adopter’s liberi file with a case note, recording the date it was uploaded. This requirement was already 
followed in relation to feedback from the STOP Parenting Programme. Currently the feedback is uploaded 
either by the administrator or social worker/clinician.

Overall the feedback received was very positive with some constructive suggestions for improvement that are 
being investigated and acted upon. The team should be very proud of  the regard in which their work is held by 
adopters and adopted children.

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 21 July 2017

Subject: THE KENT FOSTERING BUSINESS PLAN

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The Kent Fostering Service has updated the fostering Business Plan for 
2017-2018.  This outlines the work plan for the next year and incorporates the overall 
aims of the service plan for Specialist Children’s Services.

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
DISCUSS and APPROVE the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2017-2018.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Business Plan (Attached as Appendix 1) ensures compliance with the 
Fostering Regulations and the Fostering National Minimum Standards (2011). 

2. Body of the Report

2.1 Kent Fostering is made up of seven fostering supervising social work support 
teams, and a centralised fostering service which covers the recruitment and 
assessment of foster carers (including Connected Persons); the specialised 
team for disabled children’s fostering, Fostering Review Team and foster carer 
training and development.  The Kent Fostering Service is managed by the Head 
of Fostering, who has direct management responsibility for the centralised 
teams, the standards of the fostering service and is the registered fostering 
manager.  There is matrix management for the staff within the support teams, 
line management provided by Service Managers in locality areas, and oversight 
and quality assurance in place by the Head of Service.  The aim of the service 
is to provide a range of high quality, appropriate foster placements that meet 
both the National Minimum Standards (2011) and the requirements set out in 
care planning regulations and also ensure the best possible outcomes for 
Kent’s Children in Care.  As at the end of May 2017 the Kent Fostering Service 
has 778 available registered foster carers (excluding Suspended and Relief 
Carers) caring for 1035 children.

2.2 The service has been through a significant period of innovation, supported by 
Newton Europe, to identify areas for improvement ensuring the utilisation of 
foster carers, minimising vacancies and enhancing the processes in place to 
match children both locally and across the county.  Each support team has 

Page 119

Agenda Item 12



focused on ensuring maximum use of in-house vacancies and that foster carers 
have the skills and knowledge required to maintain their registration.  In the 
years 2014-16 there was a focus on having carers registered who were actively 
fostering and committed to working with the department.  This has meant a 
number of foster carers have been deregistered due to being unable to take the 
children requiring placements, not actively fostering for prolonged periods 
and/or not meeting the requirements set out in fostering regulations.  This has 
meant a reduction in the number of registered foster carers over the last 2 
years; however the foster carers who are registered with Kent are the right 
foster carers with the skills and knowledge required to provide high quality 
placements.

2.3 The numbers of foster carers in Kent, and the numbers of carers approved and 
de-registered from May 2015 to May 2017, is shown in the tables attached to 
this report as Appendix 2.

3. Context: Strengths and Challenges

3.1 A new permanent Head of Fostering was appointed in June 2016.  This 
appointment has provided strengthened leadership and focus to the Fostering 
Service and was acknowledged as an area of significant strength in the recent 
Ofsted inspection.  

3.2 In tandem with the changes at senior leadership there was also a request from 
the Corporate Parenting Select Committee in February 2016 that an 
Independent Fostering Review be undertaken to ensure that the standard of 
foster care provision is safe, adequately meets the needs of Looked After 
Children in the care of Kent Foster Carers and ensures appropriate matching of 
carers and children.  The Independent Review was completed in June 2016 and 
identified areas that were already the focus for the Fostering Service, but 
significantly, and helpfully, has contributed to increasing the pace of change and 
providing a framework for developing and improving the service.  

3.3 Key areas for development identified for the service following the Independent 
Fostering Review (June 2016) that have been achieved are: 

 A clear structure and clarity of expectations for supervision of managers, 
social workers and foster carers in the Fostering Service.

 Allegation investigations are not only completed but there is follow up 
social work to support carers and children to manage post allegations. 
Improvement in the timeliness of returning to panel with reports containing 
increased analysis and clear recommendations of next steps.  Workshops 
on allegations and complaints have been delivered to all team managers, 
with the development of a flowchart, a Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) notification form and an agreed process for the recording of 
allegations.  A learning culture has been developed in the Service, with 
learning from Serious Case Reviews and complaints now embedded into 
Management Meetings and disseminated to the teams and to foster carers. 

Page 120



 Implementation of the Fostering Review Team, to provide independent 
focus and challenge in the completion of foster carers’ reviews.  

 Improved practice in relation to placement matching, including clarity and 
training in respect of purpose and use of delegated authority.  Online 
training on the Care Planning Regulations and the 2015 updates was re-
launched in February 2017.  A new referral form, delegated authority, 
matching, risk assessment and placement arrangements format has been 
implemented to have all the key information within one document. 

 Quality Assurance and management oversight to ensure that the quality of 
practice supports the performance management statistical returns.

 Paperless panels have been fully implemented across all six fostering 
panels.

 The streamlining of the process for both permanency cases and 
Connected Persons Assessments has been fully implemented, with the 
aim of reducing paperwork and achieving a clear process and focus on 
early permanency planning for children. 

3.4 The Kent Fostering Service has an updated Business Plan for 2017-2018 which 
has been developed to support the delivery of a good fostering service and 
which will be reviewed quarterly.  The Business Plan has been developed in 
conjunction with feedback from the Kent Foster Carers Association (KFCA), the 
Independent Fostering Review (June 2016) as well as areas highlighted by 
Ofsted that could be further developed.  The business plan has been shared 
with all staff and has been welcomed throughout the service as it provides staff 
with clarity about their roles as well as Service priorities.  The quality of social 
work practice is supported by the Kent performance management systems and 
this has included the development of a Team Operational Dashboard (TOD) 
and Fostering Scorecard with data available at both a team and individual level.  
Fostering activity can be tracked by managers with a focus on measuring 
progress in meeting Fostering Regulatory requirements.  Some additional 
measures have been included to ensure that there is senior management 
oversight of allegations and complaints and the timeliness of their completion.

4. Progressing Success

4.1 Recruitment of Foster Carers is an ongoing challenge, with the Local Authority 
competing with a high number of Independent Fostering Agencies within the 
county.  Initial enquiries have reduced considerably during 2016/17 and a 
number of methods have been used to address this including increasing the 
number of information events, enhanced use of social media including live web 
chats and use of Facebook and Twitter.

4.2 A new recruitment campaign with an updated brand image has been developed 
and is being used in all the recruitment of Foster Carers marketing.  This also 
utilises the Kent County Council logo so that there is greater emphasis on the 
benefits of fostering for Kent as opposed to the independent sector.  This was 

Page 121



launched in September 2016, with a targeted campaign to ensure Kent 
Fostering has a greater presence within the local community.  Key advertising 
strategies include placing banners in prominent places, increased profile with 
local papers, a leaflet drop and roundabout advertising as well as the use of 
social media including Twitter.

4.3 There is a recruitment strategy which is tracking impact and this is twinned with 
all areas having specific input into the recruitment plan/target to identify any 
specific local challenges.  Foster Carers continue to be a significant strength, 
with word of mouth a strong method of recruitment, rewarded by a bounty 
payment to recognise carer’s contribution to expanding the service.  
Experienced Foster Carers are part of all information events and enhance 
presentations by sharing the rewards of being a Foster Carer for the Kent 
Fostering Service.  Media training and workshops have been provided to carers 
to ensure the voice of carers is strong within the local community. 

4.4 New recruitment material from September 2016.

4.5 A key strength of the service is the Training and Development for Foster Carers, 
which has a clear structure for their career and includes pre approval training 
“Skills to Foster” through to qualifications at both Diploma and BTEC level.

4.6 All Foster Carers have a personal development plan, with a clear structure for 
newly approved carers in Years 1 and 2, working towards enhanced courses 
further in their career.  There is a variety of online and direct training, alongside 
local support groups which ensure varied methods for adult learning.  
Mandatory training has been introduced on Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and 
PREVENT to ensure Foster Carers are fully informed about these specific areas 
of the work.

4.7 Young people who are former Care Leavers are included at the early stages of 
recruitment and throughout the training programme.  They assist with the young 
people’s interview panels for new applicants, provide participation training and 
there is also the opportunity for them to be panel members

4.8 Following Kent’s participation in research for the Fostering Network in 2015 
(motivation for fostering and the retention of foster carers), all new carers have 
an allocated mentor at Stage 2 of the recruitment process, who then remains 
with them throughout their first year.  As part of this research, Kent introduced 
exit interviews and six month post approval interviews for new carers to learn 
from why carers are leaving the service and to ensure new carers are fully 

Page 122



supported in their first year and obtain feedback on their experiences of the 
recruitment process. 

5. Where we are today

5.1 The key areas of focus going forward are improving placement stability as well 
as the retention of experienced Foster Carers.  The Head of Fostering has 
recruited 30 foster carer ambassadors to support the work of the Service in 
developing policy and improving practice and support in order to retain current 
Foster Carers. 

5.2 The “Sense of Belonging” project to improve placement stability was launched 
in March 2017.  The provision will focus on children with three plus placement 
moves, on part-time timetables or excluded from education, at risk of 
Missing/CSE or with complex needs.  This will comprise of three offers of 
support to our foster carers and children:

1. Use of the Council’s outdoor activity centres to provide residential 
weekends for children and young people to have new opportunities 
and make friendships, alongside giving Foster Carers planned 
breaks to improve the placement stability.  The first cohort of 10 
boys started attending the centres in January 2017 and they have 
evaluated their experiences and provided feedback directly to the 
Head of the Fostering Service.  Both the Foster Carer and the 
children’s feedback have been extremely positive for this new and 
innovative service. 

2. The recruitment of five hub foster carer families across the county to 
work with three to four complex young people and their carers to 
provide emergency respite and day care at times of crisis in order to 
prevent placement disruption.  This will be based on the 
Mockingbird Project (2016) and a pilot in East Kent in 2016, which 
linked the improvement in placement stability to having access to 
local emergency respite and day care support from the same 
identified carer.

3. The replacement for the Therapeutic Reparenting Scheme (TRP), to 
provide clinical psychology support at times of crisis for children and 
their Foster Carers, supported by two KCC support workers to assist 
with direct intervention.  The service is commissioned through the 
Anna Freud Centre and will be launched on 1 September 2017.

5.3 The Disabled Children’s Fostering Team is an area of excellence, with 
experienced fostering staff supporting Foster Carers to provide both full time 
care and Short Breaks for disabled children.  The service is looking to expand to 
ensure all areas are well resourced for disabled children, particularly to enable 
Short Breaks to be provided by a family, as opposed to residential based care.  
The Disabled Children’s Fostering Team is currently working on how to improve 
children’s participation in the carer’s annual reviews and thinking creatively 

Page 123



about how to use technology such as iPads to engage children with 
communication difficulties.

5.4 The Kent Foster Carers Association (KFCA) works closely with the Head of 
Fostering to support Kent Foster Carers and provide additional support and 
learning, alongside promoting activities and appreciation events for Foster 
Carers and children.  Regular meetings support this work and ensure a joint 
approach to planning events and consistency in all areas, evidenced by a joint 
conference in July 2017.  A county appreciation award event for Foster Carers 
and staff has been arranged for 4 October 2017. 

5.5 The Kent Fostering Service is an ambitious service, aiming to provide 
excellence within its placements.  There is a clear vision and plan to work 
together with partnership agencies to improve outcomes for children and young 
people.  The Kent Fostering Service is assisted by multi agency partners in 
Virtual School Kent (VSK), Police, Health (including children and mental health 
services (CAMHS) and designated nurses as well as local community 
partnerships such as the Children’s Centres and community groups who are 
able to assist in promoting fostering within the local community. 

5.6 The business plan will be reviewed quarterly by the Assistant Director for 
Corporate Parenting and the Head of Fostering and will be presented to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel. 

6. Recommendation

6.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
DISCUSS and APPROVE the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2017-2018.

7. Background Documents

Report on Independent Fostering Service Review September 2016
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s72243/B1%20-
%20Fostering%20Service%20Independent%20Review%20-%20MASTER.pdf

Fostering services: national minimum standards - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-services-national-
minimum-standards

The Mocking Bird Project - https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-
practice/projects-and-programmes/mockingbird-programme

The evaluation of the Mockingbird Family Model - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5
60625/DFE-RR528-Mockingbird_family_model_evaluation.pdf

Page 124

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s72243/B1%20-%20Fostering%20Service%20Independent%20Review%20-%20MASTER.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s72243/B1%20-%20Fostering%20Service%20Independent%20Review%20-%20MASTER.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-services-national-minimum-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-services-national-minimum-standards
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-practice/projects-and-programmes/mockingbird-programme
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-practice/projects-and-programmes/mockingbird-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560625/DFE-RR528-Mockingbird_family_model_evaluation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560625/DFE-RR528-Mockingbird_family_model_evaluation.pdf


8. Report Author
Caroline Smith
Head of Fostering
03000 415091
Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 125

mailto:Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 14

Fostering Business Plan 2017-2018

Linked to the District Balanced Scorecard and Work Plan – Divisional Priorities and Outcomes
(To be reviewed quarterly to ensure continuous development and actions from Ofsted Report March 2017)

Kent Fostering Service Vision: To achieve an outstanding fostering service that ensures consistent support to foster 
carers with positive outcomes and improved placement stability for children and young people in our care. 

Target 1: Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  (NMS 1.3)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome

1.1

Child in Care and 
Fostering Teams 
to promote the 
voice of the 
children and 
young people in 
their districts as 
a priority.  

Service 
Managers (6 
monthly 
feedback)

Head of 
Fostering 
(Caroline 
Smith)

Fostering 
Review Team

Monthly 
recording on 
Fostering 
Scorecard.

To increase the voice of the child within foster carer 
annual reviews.

To increase attendance of Children in Care at 
participation events.  

Fostering Social Workers to include voice of the child 
within foster carer supervision visits, to see the 
children within placement a minimum of quarterly to 
include visit prior to foster carer’s annual review. 

Target:  To introduce MOMO (on line app) for children 
and young people to use once social workers have 
mobile working technology to use this.  (In line with 
KCC role out for mobile working.)

To organise participation events for girls in foster care 
in East Kent, aged 12-16 years on “Keeping Safe” and 
providing safe adults to support them. Events to be 
coordinated by VSK and Kent Fostering, to have a 
“fun beauty/well being theme” to engage and support 
participation. To build their self-esteem and create an 
environment for girls to ensure “keeping them safe”. 

Attendance at participation events to be recorded in 
foster carers annual reviews, an expectation of 
minimum of 3 days per year at events organised by 
the Young People’s Council, Fostering Support 
Teams, Kent Foster Carer Association (KFCA) or 
Virtual School Kent (VSK). 

Requirement to attend participation events to be 
added to Foster Carer Terms and Conditions. 

Report on Fostering scorecard, to be run from 
updated annual review form on Liberi 
(implementation June 2017).

Service Managers to complete summary of 
children’s feedback 6 monthly.  

P
age 127



Page 2 of 14

1.2

To ensure 
children’s views 
are included 
within allegations 
and complaints. 

Independent 
Reviewing 
Officers (IROs), 
Child in Care 
(CIC) social 
workers and 
Fostering social 
workers.

Outcomes of allegations and complaints to be given to 
children and young people and joint visits/direct work 
completed as part of the allegation/complaint process.  

Implementation of guidelines for social workers 
following an allegation against a foster carer or 
member of the fostering household.

To be measured through tracking of 
allegation/complaints process by Fostering Team 
Managers on a monthly basis. 

Reviewed 6 monthly by Head of Fostering and Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO), meeting with 
support team managers to review any learning and 
training needs. 

Allegation/complaint cases to be included in monthly 
audits completed by Fostering Support Team 
Managers.

1.3

Learning from 
children’s/young 
people’s 
feedback to be 
disseminated 
throughout the 
Fostering 
Service.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Head of 
Service

Complaints and compliments to be presented monthly 
at Corporate Parenting Management Meeting, with 
learning points for the service.  This will be shared 
quarterly at Team Managers meetings and learning 
disseminated to foster carers through: 

 Foster Carer Advisory Board 
 Kent Foster Carer Association twice yearly 

conference
 Foster Carer Ambassadors 
 Foster Carer monthly Support Groups

A learning culture to be developed and measured by 
a reduction in repeat complaints of similar themes. 
To achieve a safer fostering service, where young 
people report they feel safe and listened to. 

Monitor and measured through complaints tracker 
for Corporate Parenting. 

Foster Carers are child/young people focused and 
actively promote attendance at the young people’s 
councils (YAC and OYPC)

      

P
age 128



Page 3 of 14

Target 2:  Ensure all foster carers have a clear training and personal development plan including training on safe care, CSE and understanding 
of behavior and child development to include positive control and de-escalation.   (NMS 3.8, 4.6 and 5.1)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is 
our target? 

How will we measure the outcome?

2.1

All foster 
carers to have 
a Personal 
Development 
Plan (PDP) 
from initial 
registration, to 
be updated 
and reviewed 
yearly. 

To have a clear 
structure of 
training for new 
and 
experienced 
foster carers 
with specific 
programme of 
career 
development. 

Fostering social 
worker with case 
responsibility to 
complete PDP 
yearly at Annual 
reviews. 

Fostering 
Training 
Coordinator to 
update training 
calendar and 
training strategy 
yearly. 

MIU to support 
with Liberi 
reporting on 
attendance at 
training. 

All foster carers to have a PDP initially 
as part of the Form F assessment, 
then updated at each Annual Review. 

Training must be addressed as part of 
supervision of foster carers and non-
attendance addressed through annual 
review process and panel.  

To add to Foster Carer training 
calendar for 2017: 

 Introduction to LGBT and 
supporting young people with 
sexuality

 Basic Computer Skills 

 Placement Stability including 
Research through Rees 
Centre, Oxford University 
(sample of 25-30 fostering 
households) 

 Preparing for the Fostering 
annual Review.

 Review and update foster 
carers training on allegations, 
sexual abuse and managing 
disclosures. 

Foster carer training to become part of Liberi reporting on a monthly 
basis.  Fostering scorecard now includes:

Percentage of carers who have completed core training within 
first/second year of approval.  

Carers who have not completed training within last 6/12 months. 

Audit process to include evidence of completed PDP. 

May 2017 – Foster carers training now accessed through CPD on 
line.  This will achieve closer monitoring of course attendance and 
allow any additional training spaces to be offered to Catch 22 
Supported Lodgings providers or sold to independent fostering 
agencies to generate income.  

Liberi request: For PDP to be built as Liberi form to reduce 
uploading of documents and to enable reporting. 

P
age 129



Page 4 of 14

Target 3: Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling 
groups, so as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is 
our target? 

How will we measure the outcome 

Ensure better 
use of current 
vacancies, 
review and 
deregister 
where carers 
are unavailable 
or make use of 
the “On Hold” 
policy.

Fostering Team 
Managers and 
Service 
Managers

All inactive foster carers to be 
reviewed, within the Annual Review 
process or prior to this where 
appropriate, to ensure maximum use 
of in house vacancies.

The “On Hold” policy to be used where 
carers require a break from the 
fostering role.  

Support Teams to review inactive carers, 
supported by the Fostering Review Team 

3.1

3.2

Recruitment 
strategy to be 
updated to 
reflect use of 
social media 
and on line 
advertising. 

Plan for the 
use of the 
recruitment 
budget to 
include short 
term outcomes 
(Fostering 
Fortnight) and 
a longer term 
yearly plan. 

Head of 
Fostering with 
Chris Clark, 
Recruitment 
Coordinator and 
Communications 
Team.

By July 2017

Website updated with new images and 
clear branding for “Kent Fostering 
Service” and added to frequently to 
keep current.  Recruitment activity 
focused on targeted areas: siblings, 
adolescents and disabled children.  

Priority areas are recruitment to West 
and North Kent. 

Increased use of use of Facebook, 
Twitter and Google to promote the 
service and increase applications.  

Target for foster carers:  To recruit 200 
new fostering households, to retain 
and achieve 900 registered foster 
carers by April 2018. 

30 KCC Carer Ambassadors recruited.

Communication Team to provide reporting on number of hits to 
website, analysis on where people have seen information about 
recruitment events and overall increase in applications following 
Fostering Recruitment advertising and events.   

Retention of foster carers to be evaluated every 6 months, using 
information from exit interviews. (These are to be continued to be 
undertaken for all carers that leave the service)

Post approval interviews to be completed 6 months after approval, to 
learn from and review the recruitment process and initially support 
provided.  

P
age 130



Page 5 of 14

3.3 For all new 
carers to be 
allocated a 
Fostering 
Mentor, to 
support 
through 
assessment 
process and 
first year of 
fostering.

Fostering 
Assessment 
Teams

Retention: Every applicant to be 
allocated a local mentor at point of 
assessment (research from Fostering 
Network Project 2015).  Support Social 
worker to be allocated prior to panel 
and to jointly attend the panel with 
assessing social worker.

Fostering Support Teams to keep the Assessment Team updated 
with list of mentors to be used for new carers. 

Effectiveness to be measured through post approval 6 month 
interview with new carers.

Recruitment Coordinator to complete yearly report incorporating 
feedback from new carers collated during interview process.

Target 4: Ensure that the Head Of Fostering regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies 
and to identify specific incidents and areas of concern, patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of addressing 
the variable recording of foster carer Annual Reviews, panel reports, supervision and case records. (NMS 25.2)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

4.1

Foster carer files 
to be audited 
regularly to 
improve quality 
of recording and 
achieve 
consistency in 
recording across 
the county.  

Service 
Managers and 
Head of 
Fostering
Team 
Managers

Themes and 
learning to be 
fed back at CIC 
meeting and 
Fostering 
Managers 
meetings.

Fostering Support Team Managers will complete 
10 audits per month from their own team including 
any case with an allegation/complaint or standard 
of care concern.  Team Managers will return one 
completed template to Head of Service per month, 
which will be collated for the service and 
submitted to the Assistant Director for Corporate 
Parenting. 

There will be an additional audit of 20 cases per 
month by the Centralised Fostering teams from across 
the county, which will include quality of annual 
reviews.  The Team Managers from the Centralised 
Team will assist other services as required to 
complete independent case audits e.g. 50 case audits 
for 18+ service completed in 2016. 

Firm step audits will be measured on line, selected 
randomly, supported by MIU. 

Future audit cycle to be part of regular Quality 
Assurance and collated audit ratings to be reviewed 
monthly by Head Of Service and Assistant Director 
to track progress. (Service Improvement 
Framework)

Outcome of audits to be reported at extended 
managers meetings and Child in Care. 

 

P
age 131



Page 6 of 14

Any case graded as inadequate will be rectified within 
5 days.  Measure will be zero graded as inadequate 
by end of 2017, aim of all to be at good standard (or 
above).  Any safeguarding concern to be addressed 
immediately.  

Target 5: Handling allegations and suspicions of harm (NMS 22)
  

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

5.1

To have a central 
system for 
recording 
complaints and 
allegations.  
Clear 
leadership in 
management of 
allegations, 
with use of 
performance 
management 
where 
appropriate. 
 

Service 
Managers 

Head of 
Fostering

Manager of the 
LADO service. 
(Local Authority 
Designated 
Officer)

Target: All allegations are recorded on the carer’s 
record on Liberi and presented to the Fostering Panel.   
Peer Support Training to be provided yearly to ensure 
carers are supported and understand the process.  

Head of Service and LADO Manager to meet monthly 
to review allegations and twice yearly with Fostering 
Team Managers to review cases and learning. 

Quarterly meeting with Service Manager for 
Safeguarding, LADO Manager, Head of Fostering and 
Adoption and Assistant Director for Corporate 
Parenting. 

All social workers to follow guidelines for working with 
a child and foster carer, following an allegation. 

Specific training for Fostering and Adoption social 
workers  to be delivered by end of July 2017 to 
include: 

 Recognising signs of grooming/abuse within a 
fostering household

 How to assess risk in fostering and adoption 

The procedures for what to do when an allegation is 
made against a carer has been updated and is 
available in Kent’s Policy pages, and the LADO team 
have attended all fostering team meetings to 
reinforce the requirements of the police which is in 
line with national minimum standards to refer all 
allegations made against foster carers to a LADO.

All Fostering Teams to follow the flowchart for 
allegations, supported by the LADO service. 

Allegations to be reviewed using the Fostering 
Dashboard/Scorecard for recording. 

Practice Development Officer (PDO) to deliver 
workshops and attend Fostering Team Meetings 
to map cases using Signs of Safety across the 
county.  To be available to support areas with 
high numbers of allegations to address specific 
areas of concerns. 

P
age 132



Page 7 of 14

applications
 Allegations/complaints KCC policy and 

process
 How to address standards of care including 

panel reports

Practice Development Officer (PDO) to support 
service to have standard Panel Report template 
for standards of care concerns that incorporates 
Signs of Safety.  (By end of June 2017.)  

Target  6:  Payment to carers (NMS 28)

 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Foster Carers 
payments and 
expenses will be 
reviewed yearly, 
in line with KCC 
payments and 
charging policy. 

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting and 
Head of 
Fostering

Ensure that payments are in line with other Local 
Authority’s, National DFE Guidance and are 
competitive with Kent Independent Fostering 
Agencies. (IFA’s)

Review at start of financial year in line with KCC 
Payments and Charging policy.  Payments for Foster 
Carers to be published on Fostering website and in 
KCC publications of payments. 6.1

6.2

A review of the 
payments for 
Skills Level 2 
and Level 3 
payments.

Head of  
Fostering, 
Training 
Coordinator 
and Foster 
Carer 
Ambassadors

By end of 
September 
2017

Review the function and format of the Payment for 
Skills Panel. 

Review the Competency Assessment Framework 
(2008) and update.  Create panel checklist for 
presenting carers at Level 2 / 3.

Consider the structure in line with IFA payment 
structures and how to recruit foster carers to transfer 
from independent agencies, to KCC. 

Carers and staff need a clear process to provide 
evidence for the consideration of Level 2 and 3 
payments.  This will be measured in achieving 
consistent practice across the county. 
Training to be delivered in line with updated 
competency framework. 

Training Coordinator and Head of Fostering to 
review competencies, jointly with Foster Carer 
Ambassadors. 

P
age 133



Page 8 of 14

New competency framework to be agreed by 
January 2018, with analysis of predicted 
costings with implementation from 1st April 2018. 

6.3

Carers 
transferring from 
IFA’s.

Completed All carers transferring from an IFA will transfer across 
to Kent Fostering Service on the Kent County Council 
payment structure.  This will be made clear at point of 
application and recorded within protocol meetings.  

The Head of Fostering will review every 6 months 
what the local IFA’s pay to foster carers to ensure 
Kent remains competitive in his payments and 
support package. 

Head of Fostering to work with commissioning 
on the provision of IFA placements and provider 
framework, to ensure provision for children and 
young people with complex needs.  

Target 7: Foster Carers receive the support and supervision they need in order to care properly for children place with them. Supervision and 
support of foster carers (NMS 21)

What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

7.1

A consistent 
template for 
supervision that 
is used for all 
foster carers.  A 
signed record of 
supervision is 
sent to carers 
electronically via 
Egress and 
uploaded onto 
Liberi.

Team 
Managers,
Service 
Managers 

Foster carer’s supervision format uses Signs of Safety 
model and is recorded on Liberi, with copies sent to 
foster carers within 5 working days. 

Audits will show that one template is being used 
across the county.  Carers will all have a supervision 
agreement and regularly receive the notes of their 
supervision (every 4-6 weeks).  There will be signed 
copies of supervision uploaded onto Liberi. 
(electronic confirmation via Egress) 

P
age 134



Page 9 of 14

7.2

There is an 
effective Out of 
Hours Service for 
foster carers.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Head of 
Fostering

Service 
Manager for 
County Out of 
Hours

Review of Fostering Out of Hours Service to be 
completed June 2017 following sample of out of hour’s 
activity during May in all areas.  Proposals for 
changes to the current system to be presented to 
Divisional Management Team (Divmt) July 2017. 
Joint report to be completed by Head of Fostering and 
Jo Stevens, Service Manager for County Out of Hours 
following consultation with Area Service Managers 
and staff.
To include a review of the provision of emergency 
placements for the county, including placing children 
from police custody. 

To achieve an updated Fostering Out of Hours 
service that supports foster carers and county out of 
hours, with the provision of emergency placements. 
This will be measured by achieving an increase in 
emergency provision of placements for the county 
including in house foster carer, emergency beds and 
semi-independent options for young people. 

7.3

Increase 
placement 
stability and 
reduce numbers 
of moves for 
children coming 
into care by 
offering 
additional 
support to Foster 
Carers.  
Improve the 
retention of KCC 
in house foster 
carers through 
the provision of 
additional 
support.

Head of 
Fostering 
Service and 
Virtual School 
Kent (VSK)

Provide an offer to foster carers for increasing 
placement stability through three options for additional 
support. 

1. Use of outdoor activity center’s Swattenden 
and Bewl Water for a programme of day and 
residential weekends to provide foster carers a 
break and new opportunities for children. 

2. 5 Hub families to be recruited for the county to 
support 3-4 foster carers per area with 
complex young people, providing emergency 
and ongoing support. 

3. Introduction of new service to replace existing 
therapeutic support to foster carers and 
children through emergency provision of 
clinical psychology support.  Implementation 
1st July 2017. 

Measured through the Fostering Scorecard, to 
achieve a reduction in the numbers of moves for 
children and young people between fostering 
placements. 

Measured through the children’s and foster carer’s 
review feedback and joint working with IRO’s.

Measured through the Fostering Scorecard to 
reduce the number of foster carers leaving the 
Service.

P
age 135



Page 10 of 14

7.4

Increase support 
to children and 
young people 
through Life 
Long Links pilot.

Dawn Walsh, 
County 
Manager 
Family Group 
Conferencing to 
implement pilot 
in East Kent 
and countywide 
by April 2018.  

First 30 children to be identified for East Kent pilot.  
Briefing for foster carers to be delivered at KFCA 
conference 6th July 2017.  Head of Fostering to work 
with Family Group Conference to ensure appropriate 
safeguarding checks in place.   

Measured through working group meeting bi-monthly 
attended by the Head of Fostering.

50 Children to be part of the project for Year 1 
(2017-2018)
80 Children to be part of the project for Year 2. 
(2018-2019) 

Target 8: Preparation for Placement (NMS 11) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

Children are 
carefully 
matched to a 
foster placement 
and wherever 
possible given 
information about 
the foster carers 
before arrival. 
(NMS 11.3)

Service 
Managers 
Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering

1st June 2017

Every foster carer has an up to date profile with 
photographs that can be printed off and given to 
children before the start of the placement.  Even in an 
emergency, the profile can be emailed to the placing 
social worker, to be shown to a child using current 
technology.
Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information in matching section of referral form. 

Target:  Referrals to be detailed with reasons for 
matching and support package for carers.
Update referral, placement arrangements and 
matching form on Liberi. Form tested and plan for 
implementation 1st June 2017.  

Quality Assurance form to be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate information and matching 
recorded (oversight by Team Manager).

Carers to ask children whether they received carer’s 
profiles prior to placement. This to be recorded in 
carer’s supervision. 8.1

8.2

Carers are given 
full information 
about the child. 

Fostering Team 
Managers
Fostering 
Social Workers

Audit of referrals for each area showed inadequate 
information at point of referral. 

Target: Referrals to be quality assured at point of 
referral and returned to children social workers if not 
of good quality.  

Tracy Smith, Access to Resources Team Manager to 
support service by completing monthly auditing of 
referrals and timescales for placement arrangements 
meeting. 
Report to Child in Care meeting on outcome of 
audits and areas requiring improvement.  

P
age 136



Page 11 of 14

All carers to receive copy of referral, risk assessment, 
delegated authority and placement arrangements form 
for each child placed in their care. 

New referral form agreed with delegated 
authority, matching and “missing” information 
incorporated.  Agreed at Liberi Ops group, 
implementation 1st June 2017. 

8.3

Delegated 
Authority 
recorded for all 
children and 
young people. 

Fostering social 
workers and 
Children’s 
social workers.

1st June 2017

There is inconsistent use of Delegated Authority and it 
being recorded and signed. 
Target: One Delegated Authority Form to be inserted 
into placement arrangements on Liberi that covers all 
areas e.g. medical, education, social, religious and 
cultural needs. 

Matching process to be included in permanency policy 
with updated sibling assessment.  PDO to provide 
assessment and flowchart.  

Form to be live on Liberi from 1st June 2017

Delegated Authority to be recorded on all placement 
plan arrangements and signed copy to be given to 
foster carer. 

Delegated authority to be part of every audit.  Any 
audit missing delegated authority will be rated 
inadequate and delegated authority to be in place 
within 5 days from audit.

  

8.4

Improve the 
attendance of 
children in care 
at Initial Health 
Assessments 
(IHA)

Head of 
Service with 
Helen 
Weymouth - 
Head of Child 
Health Services 
and Cathie 
Burton EKHCT

To improve the attendance of children at Initial Health 
Assessments within statutory timescale. 

For all foster carers to have information sheet on 
IHA’s. 

Joint working completed and information sheet 
disseminated to all registered foster carers. 

Target 9:  Staff support and supervision (NMS 24)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

9.1

A signed written 
record is kept by 
the Fostering 
Service of each 
staff member’s 
supervision. 

Team 
Managers, 
Head of 
Fostering 

Case recording and reflection from staff supervision to 
be on Liberi and personal supervision that includes 
training and development, to be stored electronically 
in a central supervision folder.  

Each area will have electronic folder to store staff 
supervision that can be accessed by the Head of 
Fostering and Assistant Director. 
Supervision template to be consistent across the 
county. 

P
age 137



Page 12 of 14

Staff supervision 
to be saved 
centrally in 
electronic 
supervision 
folder (for all staff 
including Team 
Managers).

Request to Practice Development Officers to have one 
KCC template for staff supervision following Ofsted 
inspection in March 2017.  To request 
implementation by September 2017.

Supervision audit to be completed quarterly and 
shared with Assistant Director for Corporate parenting.  
Corporate Parenting Managers meeting to include 
supervision on agenda, random samples for each 
service area to be reviewed by Assistant Director.

Each staff folder to contain:
 Supervision agreement/contract
 PDP’s/Action plans 
 Supervision notes on agreed template
 Record to confirm completion of 

mandatory training on Data Protection, 
Information Governance, PREVENT, Care 
Planning Regulations and Managing 
Bribery Risks. 

Target  10 Statement of Purpose (NMS 16)
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

10.1 We want to 
continue with an  
ambitious 
Fostering 
Service that has 
a learning 
culture and 
builds on the 
strengths of our 
existing services 
for our children 
in care.  

All new fostering 
staff into the 
Service to follow 
Fostering 
Induction 
programme.

Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Service 
Managers 

Head of 
Fostering

Kent Foster 
Carers 
Association 
(KFCA)

Kent Fostering Service increases the skills of its 
foster carers and has a range of placements for 
matching.  To achieve through a varied training 
calendar of events linked to foster carers PDP’s. 

Target: To build on the Specialist (Disability) 
Fostering Service by increasing the number of carers 
for short breaks.  

To use Serious Case Reviews to inform our practice 
and learn across the service how to make 
improvements. 

Regular joint events in partnership with KFCA and 
Head of Fostering to attend quarterly meetings. 
Events for 2017 to include: 

 Summer event for foster carers birth children 
at KCC outdoor activity centre

 Hythe Venetian Fete 16th August 2017 
recruitment float and stand

Kent Statement of purpose (NMS 16.1) reviewed in 
January 2017 and ensures its aims and objectives 
are child focused and evidences how the service will 
achieve outcomes for children.  

Team Managers to use Serious Case Reviews in 
Team Meetings.  Reflective practice and learning will 
be included on agenda for all extended team 
manager fostering meetings. (monthly)

P
age 138



Page 13 of 14

 Foster Carers Awards (county event) 4th 
October 2017

 Summer holidays activities to support foster 
carers

 Fostering Recruitment Fayre 25th August 2017 
to be supported by Foster Carer ambassadors 
and KFCA

10.2

To develop a 
learning culture 
through joint 
training. 

Fostering Team 
Managers, 
Fostering 
Social Workers, 
Panel Members 
and Head of 
Fostering.   

October 2017

To deliver yearly joint training for panel members, 
fostering social workers, Team Managers and Panel 
advisors.

Target: To have a yearly joint training day/conference 
for all Fostering Staff and Panel members. 

For 2017, to focus on safeguarding and robust 
recommendations at panel and in decision making to 
achieve a safe fostering service.

For all panel papers to be quality assured by Team 
Managers and template to be developed for all 
reports on standards of care, including Signs of 
Safety model. 

Training to be organised for September/October 
2017 and learning to be measured through 
evaluation. 

Quality assurance of panel papers to improve the 
quality of panel reports and enable robust 
recommendations and decision making. 

10.3

To streamline 
support for new 
foster carers and 
ensure they 
have 
consistency and 
develop learning 
in first year of 
fostering 

Team 
Managers, 
Support Teams 

For all new foster carers to be allocated a Senior 
Practitioner or experienced social worker for their first 
year of practice.  Each support team to identify who 
will be the lead worker for new carers. 

Policy on allocation of Fostering Social workers 
for new and experienced fostering implemented.
 
To be measured monthly through Fostering 
Scorecard.

P
age 139



Page 14 of 14

Target  11: Promoting Independence and moves to adulthood and leaving care (NMS 12.1) 
What do we 
want to 
achieve? 

Who will do it 
and by when? 

What have we achieved and what is our target? How will we measure 
the outcome 

11.1 Kent Fostering 
Service to have 
comprehensive 
arrangements for 
preparing and 
supporting 
young people to 
make the 
transition to 
independence. 
(NMS 12.3)

Head of 
Fostering  

Service 
Manager 
18plus Care 
Leavers 
service.  

There is a clear policy for leaving care including 
Staying Put arrangements.  This is detailed on Tri X 
and within the Fostering Handbook. 

Staying Put -policy update agreed, to be on Tri X by 
31st May 2017 

Young people’s workbook to be launched June 2017. 

Policy and update to be delivered to foster carers 
through updated training for all carers caring for 
children aged 16-18 years. 

Transitions workshop delivered 31st January 2017 
(joint training for staff, foster carers, young people 
and providers).  To deliver further Transitions 
training every 6 months next planned event 
September 2017. 
 

11.2

A clear transition 
process for our 
16-18 young 
people, following 
their feedback 
that they are 
unclear about 
available 
options.  A clear 
process for 
young people, 
foster carers and 
social workers. 

Service 
Manager

Head of 
Service 18 plus 

Head of 
Fostering. 

Implement a transition programme for young people 
and foster carers, which is clearly recorded in their 
pathway plan.  To develop a KCC independence 
checklist for young people that is part of their review 
from the age of 15.5 years.  This checklist should be 
completed by the time the young person is 17.5 
years.  Work with IRO service to ensure that this is in 
place at reviews and follow up to ensure 
implementation. 
To build close working relationship with Catch 22 
provider, for supported lodgings.  To link with 
recruitment of host providers, Catch 22 to attend 
information events. 

Social workers and foster carers will have a clear 
checklist and plan for young people, including all the 
services and support options available.  Flowchart 
for processes and services to be designed. 

Implementation though workshop for young people, 
foster carers and social workers in January 2017. 

Head of Fostering to attend Catch 22 quarterly 
meetings, to ensure joint working and use of 
recruitment events. 

P
age 140



Table 1a

  The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 as amended by
The Care Planning and Fostering (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2015

P
age 141



Table 1b

Table 1c

P
age 142


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 1 June 2017
	Thursday 1st June 2017  CPP Report

	6 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards
	7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	8 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018
	Item 8 App 1 - Sufficiency Strategy Performance Summary
	Item 8 App 2 - Sufficiency Strategy Review Briefing June 2017

	9 Looked After Children in the Criminal Justice System; a summary of the Taylor, Laming and Lammy reviews
	10 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2016/2017
	Item 10 App 1 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2016-17

	11 Annual Report 2016-2017, Adoption Service
	Item 11 App 1 - Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2016-17
	Item 11 App 1 A - Adoption Service Structure Chart
	Item 11 App 1 B - Kent Coram Partnership feedback

	12 The Kent Fostering Business Plan
	Item 12 App 1 Fostering Business Plan 2017-2018
	Item 12 App 2 Number of Foster Carers and Carers Approved and Deregisted


